
 

 
 

 

 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

1 

 
Governance and Human Resources 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 
 
 

AGENDA FOR THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, which will be 
held in  on, 2 July 2015 at 7.30 pm. 
 
 
John Lynch 
Head of Democratic Services 
 
 

Enquiries to : Peter Moore 

Tel : 020 7527 3252 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 24 June 2015 

 
 
Membership Substitute Members 
 
Councillors: Substitutes: 
Councillor Martin Klute (Chair) 
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Raphael Andrews 
Councillor Osh Gantly 
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  MBE 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
Councillor Tim Nicholls 
 

Councillor Alice Donovan 
Councillor Alex Diner 
Councillor Jean Roger Kaseki 
Councillor Jenny Kay 
Councillor Una O'Halloran 
Councillor Alice Perry 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Clare Jeapes 
 

 
Co-opted Member: Substitutes: 
Bob Dowd, Islington Healthwatch 
 

Olav Ernstzen, Islington Healthwatch 
Phillip Watson, Islington Healthwatch 
 

 

Quorum: is 4 Councillors 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

2 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Introductions 
 

 

2.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

3.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a)Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 (b)Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out  
  duties as a member, or of your election; including from a trade union. 
 (c)Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body 
 in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
 (d)Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
 (e)Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 
 (f)Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which 
you or your partner have  
  a beneficial interest. 
 (g)Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   
 

This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

5.  Order of business 
 

 

6.  Minutes 
 

1 - 6 

7.  Chair's Report 
 

 



 
Director of Corporate Resources 

 

3 
 

 The Chair will update the Committee on recent events.  

8.  Public Questions 
 

 

9.  Health and Wellbeing Board Update 
 

 

B.  
 

Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Page 

10.  Whittington Hospital Defecit - Verbal 
 

 

11.  Camden and Islington NHS Quality Account report 2015/16 
 

7 - 66 

12.  Quality Accounts presentation v1 
 

67 - 74 

13.  Drug and Alcohol misuse Annual Update 
 

75 - 90 

14.  Islington Healthwatch Annual Report 
 

91 - 118 

15.  Scrutiny Review Health Impact of Damp Housing Conditions - Approval of SID - 
to follow 
 

 

16.  Work Programme 2015/16 
 

119 - 
122 

 
 

The next meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee will be on 14 September 2015 
Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the council's 

website: 
www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday, 19 May 2015 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 19 May 
2015 at 7.30 pm. 

 
Present: Councillors: Klute (Chair), Chowdhury, Gantly, Hamitouche, 

Nicholls, Heather and O'Halloran 
 

 Also Present: Councillors  Burgess 
 

 Co-opted Member Bob Dowd, Islington Healthwatch 
 

 
 

Councillor Martin Klute in the Chair 

 

94 INTRODUCTIONS (ITEM NO. 1)  
The Chair introduced Members and officers 
 

95 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (ITEM NO. 2)  
Councillors Turan and Andrews 
 

96 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (ITEM NO. 3)  
Councillor O’Halloran stated that she was substituting for Councillor Turan 
 

97 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (ITEM NO. 4)  
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 17 March 2015 be 
confirmed and the Chair be authorised to sign them 
 

98 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (ITEM NO. 5)  
None 
 

99 ORDER OF BUSINESS (ITEM NO. 6)  
The Chair stated that the Committee would consider the items on the Islington CCG 
Annual Report and the 111/Out of Hours service items first on the agenda that 
evening 
 

100 CHAIR'S REPORT (ITEM NO. 7)  
The Chair stated that he continued to be a Member of the JOSHC, which consists of  
the LB.’s Barnet, Haringey, Islington, Camden and Enfield forming the North Central 
London sector and that due to Councillor Kaseki no longer being a Member of the 
Committee, it would be necessary to appoint another Member to serve with him on 
the Committee. The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to be held on 26 
June at Islington Town Hall. 
 
The Chair also referred to a private consultancy agency that had been requested to 
carry out work on changes to the North Central London sector and he had requested 
the company concerned to attend a future meeting of the JOSHC and individual 
Health and Care Scrutiny Committees on the terms of their brief. 
 
The Chair informed the Committee that there were also proposals to close 2 GP 
surgeries in the borough which was very worrying and he stated that he had 
approached NHS England with a view to finding alternative GP’s, even though it 
seemed to be the case that the patients could be accommodated at other local GP 
surgeries. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 May 2015 
 

2 
 

 
The Chair also referred to the recent e mail that he had sent to Members of the 
Committee as to comments on the work and Chairing of the Committee and would 
welcome feedback. 
 
 
 

101 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (ITEM NO. 8)  
The Chair outlined the procedure for Public questions and filming and recording of 
meetings 
 

102 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD UPDATE - VERBAL (ITEM NO. 9)  
Councillor Janet Burgess, Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing was present 
and made a verbal update on the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
The following main points were made – 
 

 In response to a statement the Chair stated that one of the recommendations 
of the scrutiny review undertaken by the Committee on GP Appointments is to 
ensure that future planning applications take account of population increases 
and the need for additional GP surgeries. Councillor Burgess responded that 
that a response is being prepared on the Committee’s considerations but this 
had been taken on board by officers 

 Councillor Burgess stated that an unsuccessful application had been made for 
Vanguard funding which would enable closer co-operation between Islington 
and Haringey, however even though this had been unsuccessful the process 
would be pursued as it was considered beneficial 

 Councillor Burgess referred to the recent publication of the Annual Public 
Health report and that she would circulate a copy to Members. Members were 
of the view that there should be an item on a future agenda to look at mental 
health 

 Reference was made to the fact that £100000 had been allocated over the 
Easter period to ease hospital discharges 

 A meeting had been held with the Governors at Whittington Hospital and the 
maternity unit had now received planning permission 

 The Whittington Quality Account report will be presented to their next full 
Board meeting 

 
RESOLVED: 
That Councillor Burgess be requested to circulate the Annual Health Public report to 
the next meeting of the Committee 
 

103 111/OUT OF HOURS SERVICE - SERVICE SPECIFICATION - PRESENTATION 
(ITEM NO. 10)  
Martin Machray, Islington CCG was present for discussion of this item. 
 
During discussion of the report the following main points were made – 
 

 Enfield CCG is leading the process on behalf of the North Central London 
sector to re-commission the 111/Out of Hours service across the 5 boroughs 

 Discussions have been had with full range of community groups, particularly 
those groups who would most likely to use this service or face particular 
barriers to accessing services or are vulnerable 

 The Keep NHS Public campaign had given the CCG a petition and this will be 
responded to in July. However the CCG has given the campaign the names of 
two local GP co-operatives in order for them to make contact with them 

Page 2



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 May 2015 
 

3 
 

 In response to a question as to whether the 111 service is unnecessarily being 
sent to A&E and that call handlers lacked the necessary training in relation to 
those callers with a learning disability, it was stated that training would take 
place and they hoped to provide more trained clinicians in the call centres, 
however this could be made clearer in the recommendations 

 There had been an improvement in the referral rates from 111 to hospitals 
over the past 2 years and the figure is now below that of NHS Direct and the 
Islington figure is less than the rest of London 

 At present the out of hours service is operated by Care UK and the 111 
service by a GP co-operative but this is not an NHS organisation. Social 
enterprises or GP co-operatives often proved to be successful 

 A Member referred to question 13 on the questionnaire with regard to sexual 
orientation and the CCG accepted that this question is not relevant 

 In response to a question as to whether LAS paramedics were leaving the 
service to join 111 it was stated that there had been retention problems 
however it is also the case that LAS paramedics were relocating in the Home 
Counties due to the expense of living in London. The LAS were conducting a 
review into the main reasons but the results were not yet published. Money 
had however been invested by the CCG on measures to retain staff 

 The Chair enquired whether the specification for the new service is 
encouraging local GP consortiums to apply or social enterprises given that 
these tended to be more successful. It was stated that the service specification 
will reflect that local knowledge of the health system is important and look to 
build capacity in the primary care sector long term 

 It was noted that the specification should hopefully be agreed before 
September and that there will be a combined specification across the 5 
boroughs 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted and a further report be submitted to the Committee once 
the specification is available 

 

104 MEMBERSHIP,; TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DATES OF MEETINGS (ITEM NO. 
11)  
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted and Councillor Turan be recommended to Council as the 
additional Member on the JOSCH to replace Councillor Kaseki 
 

105 SCRUTINY TOPICS 2015/16 - VERBAL (ITEM NO. 12)  
Discussion took place as to scrutiny topics for the forthcoming municipal year. 
 
Following discussion it was – 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That a scrutiny review be carried out in relation to the health implications arising from 
dampness in properties and this should include both private and public sector 
properties 
 
 
 

106 ISLINGTON CCG - ANNUAL REPORT (ITEM NO. 13)  
Martin Machray, Islington CCG and Dr.Gillian Greenhough were present and outlined 
the report to the Committee. 
 

Page 3



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 May 2015 
 

4 
 

During consideration of the report the following main points were made – 
 

 The incidence of tooth decay had reduced and was now average having 
reduced from the highest level in the country and had benefitted from the 
fluoride programme introduced 

 Teenage pregnancies had reduced 

 Work was taking place with Whittington Hospital on integrated care 

 The Annual Public Health report is an excellent document and the focus is to 
look at reducing mental health problems and will now account for 19% of the 
budget 

 Islington CCG administration costs only represented 2% of the total annual 
budget which is good value 

 Whittington Hospital and UCLH have some of the best mortality rates in the 
country and A&E targets were nearly met despite the crisis in most A&E units 
in the country during the winter and the CCG had put additional funding in 
during this period 

 With regard to infection control the Whittington were below target for MRSA 
and c difficile and had one of the best infection control units in the country 

 Camden and Islington were in the top 3 CCG’s for palliative care 

 Islington is made up of 36 GP practices  working in partnership with local 
providers and the Council 

 Islington is the most densely populated UK borough and the 4th. most deprived 
in the borough and has the second highest level of child poverty in the 
borough. It also has the highest level of psychosis in the country and has a 
high level of long term conditions that will need a different level of care over 10 
years 

 Islington Council and the CCG share the following priorities – to make sure 
every child has the best start in life, to prevent and manage long term 
conditions and health inequalities, to improve mental health and wellbeing, 
and deliver high quality, efficient services within the resources available 

 The CCG spent a total of £315.3 million across commissioning areas and 
management costs 

 Islington has reversed the historically low trend in vaccination of children is 
now performing amongst the best in the country for 5 in 1 vaccinations 

 Commissioned Whittington Health’s ambulatory care centre to address 
pressure on A&E 

 There will be a continued focus on integrating care and there will be joint 
working across North Central London focusing on improved primary care, and 
shifting focus towards commissioning for healthy outcomes 

 In the next 5 years the CCG will focus on prevention, work with people to 
design new services, improve access and quality in primary care, make GP 
practices the centre of co-ordinated health and social care, manage care 
better by planning ahead and having a single point of contact, and help people 
manage their own care 

 It was noted that dampness had an impact on health for residents of the 
borough 

 There was also a high incidence of COPD in Islington and dampness is a 
contributory factor, although due to the improvements in social housing this 
has reduced in the last 5 years 

 Reference was made to incidences of co-morbidity and that this tended to be 
seen more in an ageing population, however Islington had a relatively young 
population 

 Islington has a sophisticated public health system and heart disease has 
reduced by 33% in the previous 5 years 

Page 4



Health and Care Scrutiny Committee -  19 May 2015 
 

5 
 

 In response to a question it was stated that the rates of autism are growing 
across the country and incidences were picked up quickly in Islington and the 
CCG is putting more money into diagnosis and how this problem could be 
better addressed 

 An area of concern is the need to find in the NHS £22 billion of efficiency 
savings  and this equated to Islington identifying £100 million of savings by 
2020. This is during a period when when other public sector organisations 
such as the Police and Local Authorities who also support the health sector in 
delivering a service 

 Work is taking place with Islington and GP’s in order to obtain and record 
information on residents with learning disabilities 

 In relation to child obesity it was stated that whilst this has improved it is still 
above average and it was stated that data on this could be circulated to the 
Committee 

 
 
The Chair thanked Martin Machray and Dr.Gillian Greenhough for attending 
 
 

107 SCRUTINY REVIEW - PATIENT FEEDBACK DRAFT RECOMMENDATIONS (ITEM 
NO. 14)  
The Chair outlined the draft recommendations to the Committee during which the 
following points were raised – 
 

 Discussion took place as to whether the information gathered by Healthwatch 
should be included in the feedback process 

 In relation to recommendation 6 it was stated that the views of all sectors of 
the community should be reflected in the tests and the Chair should draft the 
necessary wording to reflect this 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
That, subject to the above redrafting of recommendation 6,  the draft 
recommendations be agreed and the report be referred to the Executive for 
consideration 

 

108 WORK PROGRAMME 2015/16 (ITEM NO. 15)  
Noted 
 
 
 
MEETING CLOSED at 9.55p.m 
 
 
 
Chair 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Your partner in  
care & improvement

Quality Accounts
2014/15 
—
Camden and Islington  
NHS Foundation Trust 

Page 7

Agenda Item 11



02/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Page 8



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Contents
—

1.0 	 Quality Report	 06

1.1 	 2014/15 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities  
		  in respect of the Quality Report	 06

1.2 	 2014/15 limited assurance report on the content of the  
		  quality reports and mandated performance indicators	 07

1.3 	 Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive	 09

1.4 	 Priorities for Improvement and statements of assurance  
		  from the Board	 12
	 1.1 	 Patient safety priorities	 13
	 1.2 	 Clinical effectiveness priorities	 16
	 1.3 	 Patient experience priorities	 18

1.5 	 Other information	 20
	 1.1 	 Review of services	 20
	 1.2 	 Participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries 	 20
	 1.3 	 Monitoring of antipsychotic prescribing in people with
		  a learning disability	 20
	 1.4 	 National audit of intermediate care	 20
	 1.5 	 Cardio metabolic assessment for service users with schizophrenia	 21
	 1.6 	 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicides and Homicides	 21
	 1.7 	 Local audits	 21
	 1.8 	 Participation in clinical research	 21
	 1.9 	 Quality and Innovation: The CQUIN framework	 21
	 1.10 	Statements from the Care Quality Commission (CQC)	 22
	 1.11 	Data Quality	 23
	 1.12 	Clinical Coding	 24
	 1.13 	Information Governance Toolkit	 24

1.6 	 Review of Quality Performance	 25
	 1.1 	 Safety	 25
	 1.2 	 Effectiveness	 28
	 1.3 	 Patient Experience	 31
	 1.4 	 Review of Monitoring Processes	 34

1.7 	 Key Quality Initiatives in 2014/15	 36
	 1.1 	 Sign up to Safety Campaign	 36
	 1.2 	 Smokefree	 37
	 1.3 	 Complaints event	 38
	 1.4 	 Integrated Practice Unit for people living with psychosis	 38
	 1.5 	 Quality improvement projects in Camden Crisis Houses	 39
	 1.6 	 Positive and Proactive Care	 39
	 2.1 	 Nurse Consultant-led Training	 40
	 2.2 	 Thematic review of unexpected deaths	 41
	 2.3 	 Quality Assurance Framework	 41
	 2.4 	 Patient Reported Experience Measures (PREMs)	 42
	 2.5 	 NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) –  
		  Risk Management Standards assessment	 43
	 2.6 	 Advice and Complaints Service	 43
	 2.7 	 Performance against key national indicators	 44

Your partner in  
care & improvement

Page 9



04/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Contents
—
(cont.)

1.8 	 2013/14 Quality Priorities - Progress	 54
	 1.1 	 Priority Areas 1&2: Physical Health	 54
	 2.1 	 Trust staff	 55
	 2.2 	 Healthwatch	 55
	 2.3 	 Trust Governors	 55

1.9 	 Stakeholder Involvement in Quality Accounts	 56
	 1.1 	 Trust staff	 56
	 1.2 	 Camden Healthwatch & Camden Health and Adult Social Care  
		  Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)	 56
	 1.3 	 Islington Healthwatch	 56
	 1.4 	 Trust Governors	 56

1.10 	 Stakeholder Statements	 57
	 1.1 	 Islington Healthwatch (LINks)	 58
	 1.2 	 Joint statement by Camden Healthwatch and the Camden Health  
		  and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee	 58

1.11 	 Feedback	 58

Page 10



Support Services Colleague of the Year:  
Special Commendation: David Clough

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /05

Page 11



1.1 	2014/15 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 	
		  in respect of the Quality Report
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the 
National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to 
prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content 
of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the 
arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data 
quality for the preparation of the Quality Report. 

In preparing the Quality Report, Directors are required to take steps to satisfy  
themselves that:

The content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15 and supporting guidance; 

The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources 
of information, including: 

•	 board minutes and papers for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 

•	 papers relating to Quality reported to the board over the period April 2014  
		  to April 2015 

•	 feedback from commissioners dated 14/05/2015 

•	 feedback from Governors 

•	 feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 14/05/2015 

•	 feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 14/05/2015

•	 the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 	
	 	 Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009; 

•	 the national patient survey 2014 

•	 the national staff survey 2014 

•	 the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control ..... 	
		  environment

•	 CQC Intelligent Monitoring Report dated 18/11/2014. 

The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s 
performance over the period covered; 

The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate; 

There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures 
of performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to 
confirm that they are working effectively in practice; 

The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is 
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, 
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and 

The Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) (published at www.
monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data 
quality for the preparation of the Quality Report (available at www.monitor.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual). 

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief that they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.

By order of the Board

06/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.0
—
Quality Report

Leisha Fullick, Chair 
27 May 2015

Wendy Wallace, Chief Executive
27 May 2015

Page 12



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /07

1.2 	2014/15 limited assurance report on the ...... 	
		  content .of the quality reports and mandated 	
		  performance indicators
Independent auditor’s report to the council of governors  
of Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust on the  
quality report.

We have been engaged by the council of governors of Camden and Islington NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Camden 
and Islington NHS Foundation Trust’s quality report for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the 
‘Quality Report’) and certain performance indicators contained therein.

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the council of 
governors of Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the council 
of governors in reporting Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, 
performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2015, to enable the council of governors to demonstrate 
they have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as 
a body and Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report, except 
where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2015 subject to limited assurance consist of the 
national priority indicators as mandated by Monitor:

1.	 Care Programme Approach 7 day follow up

2.	 Access to Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team (gatekeeping)

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’.

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the quality report in 
accordance with the criteria set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’ 
issued by Monitor.

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on 
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:

•	 the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set 	
		  out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’;

•	 the quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified 	
		  in Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports; and

•	 the indicators in the quality report identified as having been the subject of .... 	
		  limited assurance in the quality report are not reasonably stated in all material 	
		  respects in accordance with the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’  
		  and .the six dimensions of data quality set out in the ‘Detailed guidance for external 	
		  assurance on quality reports’.

We read the quality report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements 
of the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual, and consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any material omissions.

We read the other information contained in the quality report and consider whether it 
is materially inconsistent with Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports, 
and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively the 
‘documents’). Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. 
Our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.

Page 13



08/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:

•	 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for 	
		  managing and reporting the indicators;

•	 making enquiries of management;

•	 testing key management controls;

•	 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back 	
		  to supporting documentation;

•	 comparing the content requirements of the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting 	
		  manual’ to the categories reported in the quality report; and

•	 reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient 
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.

Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for 
determining such information.

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for 
the selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in 
materially different measurements and can affect comparability. The precision of different 
measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to 
determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision of these 
criteria, may change over time. It is important to read the quality report in the context of the 
criteria set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’.

The scope of our assurance work has not included testing of indicators other than the 
two selected mandated indicators, or consideration of quality governance.

Conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2015:

•	 the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set 	
		  out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual reporting manual’;

•	 the quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified 	
		  in Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports; and

•	 the indicators in the quality report subject to limited assurance have not been 	
		  reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the ‘NHS Foundation 	
		  Trust Annual Reporting Manual’.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
St Albans, United Kingdom
27 May 2015

Page 14



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /09

1.3 	Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive
Welcome to Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust’s 
(C&I) annual Quality Accounts for 2014/15.

Quality Accounts provide the Trust Board with an opportunity to share with the public 
the Trust’s work to continually improve quality across our services at Camden and Islington 
Foundation Trust (C&I). The Quality Accounts share our progress, our priorities for quality 
moving forward, and information about how we have progressed since last year. The quality 
goals presented here are co-developed with key stakeholders including staff, commissioners 
and feedback from service users. This document also meets our legal requirement for the 
Trust to produce Quality Accounts, under the Health Act 2009. 

In the Chief Executive’s statement in last year’s Quality Accounts, I mentioned the 
significant changes we had seen, including the creation of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs), Health and Wellbeing Boards and Healthwatch which have significantly altered our 
commissioning arrangements. This year has been an opportunity for the Trust to build on 
the changes made and to continue developing and stretching ourselves in this new context. 
We have continued with our work to ensure that we have a culture of high quality service 
provision and quality improvement. 

In May 2014, the Trust received a comprehensive CQC inspection. We welcomed a team 
of over thirty inspectors to the Trust for several days, and shared with them all aspects of 
the work that we do. This was a significant piece of work for the Trust and our stakeholders 
and has been a valuable learning experience for us. The feedback from the CQC highlighted 
some of the things we are rightfully proud of, including treating people with dignity and 
respect, and supporting service users to be engaged in their own care and involved in 
service development. It was apparent to the visitors that we genuinely put people using 
our services at the centre of our work. There are also some areas we must improve, which 
include improving our management of ligatures, ward transfers, falls management, learning 
lessons and ensuring we are using the Mental Capacity Act (1983) and Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards appropriately. Supported by our stakeholders, a large programme of 
work is underway to improve in these areas, and there is more to do in 2015-16. The areas 
in which we must improve feature in our key priorities for this year. We are already seeing 
the impact of changes from our CQC action plan. Our wards at St Pancras have undergone 
a major programme of ligature reduction work to make our environment safer, for example, 
and we have already improved our ward transfer process. Over this year, the CQC have 
been developing an intelligent monitoring system (www.cqc.org.uk/content/intelligent-
monitoring-trusts-provide-mental-health-services-infographic)to gather together 
information on each provider registered with them. Under this system, each provider is 
assigned to a band of risk, with band 1 representing highest risk and band 4 lowest risk. 
Results for all Trusts were published in October 2014, which showed C&I in Band 4, among 
other trusts at lowest risk of non-compliance with regulations.

One of the things the CQC visit has supported us to do is to fully embed the Quality 
Assurance Framework we have developed to help us monitor and ensure the quality of 
our service provision. In 2014/15, we have made internal quality assurance visits to our 
services part of our standard practice. Lots of our staff have been involved in conducting the 
visits, as have our colleagues from the Clinical Commissioning Group. We have conducted 
an evaluation and a review of the Quality Assurance Framework so that it is revised for 
2015/16. The improvements give us two tiers of improvement plans for services facing 
specific challenges; a standard improvement plan and an enhanced improvement plan for 
occasions where there are significant concerns about quality. The framework defines how 
decisions over improvement plans are made with reference to the Trust’s risk management 
strategy and risk appetite. We have recently also added the review of Quality, Innovation, 
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) projects and Cost Improvement Programmes (CIP) to the 
Quality Assurance Framework. These projects provide both opportunities and challenges to 
the Trust, and it is essential that the quality impact of this work is thoroughly assessed.

In May 2014, the 
Trust received a 
comprehensive 
CQC inspection. 
We welcomed a 
team of over thirty 
inspectors to the 
Trust for several 
days, and shared 
with them all 
aspects of the work 
that we do.

Page 15



10/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

An important focus for C&I in 2014/15 has been learning from serious incidents. Some 
of the changes made this year include improving our communication with families and 
carers following serious incidents, and ensuring that we follow up everybody discharged 
from hospital within seven days, not only those cared for under the Care Programme 
Approach. Patient safety is our paramount priority, and during this year we have been 
working on our analysis of incidents occurring across the Trust. In 2014, I commissioned 
a thematic review of 19 serious incidents, and asked an independent expert to chair the 
review panel. Their remit was to establish whether there were service-related themes, wider 
issues or links recurring across the incidents. The finding was that the spread of incidents, 
their relationship in time and place, and the lack of connections between individuals 
involved did not suggest the presence of a cluster. We have worked not only to ensure 
that we are learning lessons about improving service provision, but also to understand and 
address the impact these can have on staff. I would particularly like to thank Camden and 
Islington Clinical Commissioning Groups, and their Quality and Public Health Directorates 
for their input into this process.

C&I are committed to being an open, transparent and learning organisation. We 
welcome the new Duty of Candour requirements that require NHS Trusts to apologise and 
provide information when things have gone wrong. We also welcome the recent “Freedom 
to Speak Up” report from Sir Robert Francis QC setting out the principles and actions that 
create the right conditions for NHS staff to speak up when something is wrong. I give my 
commitment to ensuring C&I is somewhere where staff at all levels feel safe to do so and 
believe that appropriate action will be taken. This commitment is shared by the Executive 
Team and the Board, and in 2015/16 we will continue working to ensure this. Our staff are 
C&I’s greatest asset, and we were delighted to make it into the Health Service journal’s top 
100 list of NHS employers in 2015, reflecting the flexible working, health screening and 
other benefits, including yoga and pilates classes that staff have access to.

In my role as Chief Executive, I am able to see the range of work that goes on 
to improve quality, including projects working alongside service users and carers, 
development of existing services, working with commissioners to develop new and exciting 
service models, and involvement in research to further local, national and international 
understanding about mental health. For example, the Trust is working alongside colleagues 
in CAMHS to develop the Minding the Gap Transitions Service for young people aged 
16-24 years old. This project aims to facilitate the transition between child and adult 
services. Rather than provide an additional service to young people directly, this project 
brings together professionals from all relevant agencies to use their combined expertise to 
get the right result. The ‘no bounce’ and ‘no delay’ approach taken means that no longer 
will young people experience being referred to multiple services before finding the right 
one for them, and decisions about the appropriate adult service will be made more swiftly 
and effectively. We have also continued the development of the Recovery College, where 
courses co-designed and delivered by people with lived experience of mental illness with 
mental health professionals are making a real impact on people’s lives. Over the coming 
year, C&I will be responding to the new access and waiting time standards for mental 
health. Alongside our commissioners, we will be working towards ensuring treatment within 
six weeks for 75% of people referred to IAPT, and within 18 weeks for 95% of people. We 
will also be expecting treatment within two weeks for over 50% of people experiencing a 
first episode of psychosis. We have also committed to continue working alongside partners 
across the public sector to deliver the crisis care concordat local action plan. This will help us 
work towards making mental health services more effective and accessible than ever.

I said in this statement last year that we would begin capturing real time patient 
experience data in 2014/15, so that we can continually improve our care on the basis of 
feedback. We have begun using this not only to collect standardised information across 
several services, but also to develop measures designed by our service users. These measures 
are already helping us to learn about what really matters to people using our services 
right now. In 2015/16, we will develop our new patient experience strategy, and patient 
experience plans for each clinical division alongside their existing clinical audit plans. This 
strategy will set the path for patient experience at C&I for the next three years.

Page 16



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /11

During this year, myself and other colleagues have worked alongside other organisations 
to develop world-class mental health care in our own and other trusts and cities. I have 
met with other members of the Cavendish Group of ten London mental health trust CEOs, 
which was established to offer a collective voice to the mental health trusts and to the 
broader mental health community. These group meetings happened for a decade prior to 
formally becoming the Cavendish Group earlier this year, and have always proved to be 
a valuable space in which to consider the complex challenges facing the mental health 
community in London. I have also co-chaired the London Mental Health leadership group, 
which consists of leaders from London CCG’s, local authority social care and NHS England. 
This group has led work on understanding demand for acute mental health services in 
London, Care Act readiness and the introduction of the new access targets for mental 
health. The Trust has worked closely with local NHS Trusts, CCG’s and the local authorities 
to integrate care around the needs of service users. We have been part of projects to deliver 
improved co-ordination for frail elderly people, we are working with Whittington Health to 
provide a psychosis service which also provides support for many physical health conditions 
and have worked with three acute Trusts to provide an enhanced liaison service. The scale of 
the local work to integrate services led to the Trust being co-bidders to become one of the 
Vanguard sites to pilot new models of care.

For 2015/16, our quality priorities reflect progress and consolidation from previous 
years. We continue to work towards improving the physical health of our mental health 
service users, and continue to improve how we gather and respond to patient feedback. 
As in previous years, the Trust had agreed with its commissioners a very ambitious and 
challenging set of quality targets and initiatives through its 2014/15 Commissioning 
for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) programme. These targets covered issues relating 
to physical health, recovery oriented practice, collaborative care planning and smoking 
cessation. We have met the great majority of these targets and will work in 2015/16 to 
continue improvement in these areas and meet the new targets for the coming year. 

The purpose of these accounts is to share our priorities, progress and challenges with 
all of our stakeholders, and we greatly appreciate the external input we have had in the 
production of our Quality Accounts. Our priorities over the coming year are a direct result of 
feedback from our stakeholders, commissioners and the Trust membership. These accounts 
represent our commitment to ensuring that we continue to improve service user and carer 
experience, and to strengthening further our commitment towards recovery focused care 
and continuous quality improvement. I am excited for the coming year, and look forward to 
sharing the outcome of our plans and our progress next year. 

The Board is satisfied that the data contained in these Quality Accounts are accurate and 
representative.

Signed:

Wendy Wallace, 
Chief Executive
27 May 2015

Page 17



12/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.4 	Priorities for Improvement and statements of 	
		  assurance from the Board
We have developed our quality goals for 2015/16 in 
collaboration with our stakeholders and our community.  
This includes working with our commissioning colleagues  
to identify CQUIN targets, inviting suggestions and feedback 
from Trust staff, and learning from incidents, complaints, and 
service user feedback. The priorities also reflect the areas 
identified for improvement following the comprehensive 
CQC inspection in May 2014. As we move into 2015/16  
we will be seeking to further improve quality in the  
following areas:
Patient safety

1.	 Domestic violence: including ensuring people experiencing or at risk of domestic 	
		  violence are supported appropriately, including reporting, safety planning and 	
		  information-giving;

2.	 Safety from ligatures: including completing our CQC action plan relating to... 	
		  ligatures, and implementation of ligature risk assessment training;

3.	 Falls Management: including National Patient Safety Thermometer measures, falls 	
		  champions, and completion of the CQC action plan relating to falls;

4.	 Serious incidents: including robust evidence of delivery of recommendations and 	
		  evidence of sharing learning across the Trust.

Clinical effectiveness
5.	 Physical health: using the National Patient Safety Thermometer and continuing to 	

		  collect and monitor key cardio metabolic indicators for people with schizophrenia;

6.	 Working with other providers: improving communication with GPs, and working to 	
		  reduce A&E re-admission rates by improvements in crisis planning;

7.	 Stopping smoking and substance misuse: ensuring service users have smoking 	
		  cessation care plans, and have substance misuse assessments and appropriate 	
		  management plans;

8.	 Mental Capacity Act: including ratification of policies by Quality Committee .. 	
		  following presentation to Mental Health Law Committee, and delivery of  
		  training plans.

Patient experience 
9.	 Service user feedback: including participation in the Friends and Family Test;

10.	Medication: including improving information given for new medication prescriptions;

11.	Patient transfers: reducing moves between wards for non-clinical reasons.

The following section of the Quality Accounts describes in detail how these priorities 
will be addressed. We describe how the Trust will measure its performance against agreed 
standards for these areas, through CQUIN targets and other performance indicators.

Page 18



Patient
Safety

Clinically
Effective

Patient
Experience

KPIs

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /13

Key performance indicators

1.1 	 Patient safety priorities
1.1.1 	Priority area 1 - CQUIN Domestic Violence
This measure builds on last year’s domestic violence CQUIN, moving beyond building 
awareness and focusing on quality of care for people at risk of domestic violence. 
Domestic violence is a complex issue, requiring sensitive and skilled handling by 
professionals. On average, a female victim of domestic violence will experience 35 
assaults before going to the police (DoH Guidance, accessed 2015) www.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/211018/9576-
TSO-Health_Visiting_Domestic_Violence_A3_Posters_WEB.pdf and therefore, 
mental health services may well be the first place that domestic violence is disclosed. 
Responding effectively to disclosures not only offers opportunities to improve the safety 
of victims and others, but also makes it more likely that somebody will continue to share 
their experiences, so that we can support them to maintain their safety.

Key improvement Initiatives 
In 2014/15, the Trust rolled out updated domestic violence training, and incorporated 
domestic violence training into mandatory safeguarding training for all staff. This 
will continue in 2015/16. During the upcoming year, the Trust will be focusing on 
assessing, and then improving, our management of domestic violence disclosures to 
ensure that gold standard care is provided. The baseline period of assessing adherence 
to best practice in the first two quarters will provide an opportunity to assess areas of 
strength and challenge in current practice, and will inform action plans to facilitate 
improvements.

Page 19



14/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Key performance indicators
Quarterly audits of a case sample will be undertaken. Where domestic violence has 
been disclosed, clinical records will be reviewed, assessing the care provided against best 
practice guidance. Specifically, this will review whether disclosures have been followed by: 

•		 Reporting: including appropriate consideration of safeguarding alerts and/	
		  or reporting to the police. This will be based on appropriate consideration,  
		  as the appropriate decision will vary on a case by case basis;

•		 Safety planning: including the development of plans to keep the service user 	
		  and others around them safe. Safety plans include identification of safe places 	
		  to go, actions to be taken at times of heightened risk and consideration of 	
		  others (including children); and

•   	Information giving: provision of accurate and comprehensive information about 	
		  options and support available.

Performance on this measure will be reported and shared in quarterly performance 
reports.

1.1.2 	Priority area 2 - CQUIN Action Plan: Ligatures
Sadly, over the past two years the Trust has experienced two deaths involving ligatures 
in inpatient services. Hanging is the most common method of suicide in mental health 
services, and whilst we cannot eliminate the risk entirely, there is more to be done to 
improve patient safety in this area. This is something that was recognised by the CQC 
as a ‘must do’ in the May 2014 comprehensive inspection, and much of this work is 
already underway. 

Key improvement Initiatives
In 2014/15, the Trust began a major programme of estates work to reduce ligature 
risks in our inpatient and residential environments. This programme will continue in 
2015/16 and is scheduled for completion in February 2016. These estate works been 
accompanied by risk and patient safety workshops delivered to inpatient staff from 
December 2014 - February 2015. From May 2015, ligature risk assessment will be 
incorporated into a ‘Keeping Patients Safe’ monthly themed training day, providing brief 
training sessions to build staff confidence and skills in managing ligature risks in their 
environment. 

Key performance indicators:
Key milestones for monitoring progress in this area are:

• 	 Completion and close down of CQC action plan relating to ligatures;

• 	 Delivery of estates programme for ligature reduction; and

• 	 Establishment of regular ligature risk assessment training sessions.

1.1.3 	Priority area 3 – CQC Action Plan: Falls Management
Falls can affect people of all ages, but are particularly relevant to older people who are 
most likely to experience serious injury (NPSA, 2007). Dementia, depression and side 
effects of medication can make people in mental health services particularly vulnerable 
to falls. The challenge for our services is to support people at risk of falling to stay safe, 
whilst also supporting them to maintain independence and dignity. Our CQC inspection 
report showed the need for us to do more to manage the risk of falls. In June 2014, a 
falls summit was held and a plan of work was developed to establish a baseline position 
to confirm current practice and shortfalls in falls management. A falls management 
group has been established and work on improving this has been underway since.  
This remains a key priority for 2015/16.

Page 20



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /15

Key improvement Initiatives
In 2014/15, the Trust has made improvements to the management of falls, particularly 
via the roll out of the FRASE assessment tool for those at risk of falling. In 2015/16, 
falls management improvements will be facilitated by the continuing work on the CQC 
action plan. This will include ensuring that a bespoke training package is delivered 
to staff members, providing staff with up to date knowledge and skills not only in 
managing falls, but also in falls prevention. Throughout 2015/16, falls will continue 
to be closely monitored through the monitoring processes described in section 1.1.3. 
This will include monthly monitoring at divisional performance meetings and the 
development and implementation of action plans to address quality concerns at an early 
stage. Quarterly audits will also be undertaken and reported to the Audit and  
Risk Committee.

Key performance Indicators
Key milestones for monitoring progress in this area are:

•   Falls champions in place in all relevant services;

•   Completion and close down of CQC Action Plan for falls management; and

•   Quarterly reporting of Falls Census data & National Patient Safety Thermometer.

1.1.4 	Priority area 4 – CQC Action Plan:  
					     Learning Lessons from Serious Incidents

C&I are committed to being a learning organisation, and this is never more important 
than when things go wrong. In 2014/15, the Trust has introduced Learning the Lessons 
workshops for clinicians as a core part of all Grade 2 serious incident investigations. 
These workshops provide an opportunity for staff members involved in incidents to find 
out about the investigation process and findings, and to contribute to the development 
of meaningful recommendations. The Serious Incident Management Policy has been 
reviewed to strengthen the processes and accountabilities for learning from incidents, 
introducing the requirement for team managers to confirm that serious incident 
investigation reports have been shared with the team members. In the upcoming year, 
our priority will focus on further embedding these learning processes into our Trust 
culture. The Trust will also continue to use preliminary reviews, completed by clinical 
teams within 72 hours of an incident, to identify any immediate learning or actions 
required following a potentially serious incident.

Key improvement Initiatives
2015/16 will see the implementation of a serious incident review group, supported by 
the Clinical Directors of each division. This group will ensure clinical leadership in the 
management of and learning from serious incidents. Although changes to the national 
serious incidents framework mean that incidents will no longer be classified as Grade 1 
and Grade 2, we will continue to hold learning the lessons workshops following serious 
incidents to promote systems-level learning. There will also be a continued focus on 
sharing incident reports, recommendations and actions with frontline staff.

Key performance indicators
Key milestones for monitoring progress in this area are:

•   	Evidence of delivery on all recommendations and action plans from serious 	
		  incident investigations; and

•   	Learning being shared across the Trust, evidenced by improvements in awareness 	
		  of frontline staff.

Page 21



16/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.2 	 Clinical effectiveness priorities
1.2.1 	Priority area 5 – CQUIN: Physical health
In recent years, physical health issues and specifically metabolic and cardiovascular 
comorbidity in different severe mental illnesses have become a major focus in both 
clinical care and research. Both older and more recent studies have confirmed the high 
rate of premature mortality in people with schizophrenia due to cardiovascular disease. 
In 2014/15, the Trust has continually worked to address the mortality gap between the 
general population and mental health service users.

Key improvement Initiatives
The Trust will continue to participate in the National Audit for Schizophrenia (NAS). 
The NAS provides the Trust with a template for auditing a sample of patients, which is 
then completed and uploaded to a national database. Participation in this large-scale 
audit allows the Trust to compare our performance with national standards and to 
benchmark against other Trusts. Whilst the audit covers a range of measures, including 
quality of prescribing, patients’ experience of treatment and outcomes, in 2015/16 
C&I will continue to prioritise cardio metabolic assessment for service users with 
schizophrenia, to ensure that key cardio metabolic parameters are assessed consistently 
for service users, with a record of associated interventions. More information about this 
national audit is available here. www.rcpsych.ac.uk/quality/nationalclinicalaudits/
schizophrenia/nationalschizophreniaaudit.aspx

Key performance indicators
The KPI for this priority will be performance on cardio metabolic screening as per the 
results of the NAS. This will assess for a sample of patients prescribed antipsychotics 
whether appropriate screening of specific risk factors has been undertaken including: 

•   	Smoking status;

•   	Lifestyle (including exercise and diet);

• 	 BMI;

•   	Blood pressure;

•   	Glucose regulation; and

•   	Blood lipids.

Reporting on this measure will be via the NAS results publication, close to the end of 
2015/16.

1.2.2 	Priority area 6 – CQUIN:  
					     Working together with other providers

Teams across the Trust work collaboratively to provide high quality care with a range of 
other providers, including local authorities, third sector agencies, and other NHS Trusts. 
Among the most frequent colleagues our staff are required to work alongside are those 
in Accident and Emergency (A&E) departments and general practitioners. Effective 
communication and collaboration is key to ensure a smooth transition between different 
parts of the care pathway and effective multi-agency care.

Key improvement Initiatives
During 2015/16, the Trust will continue to prioritise providing general practitioners 
(GPs) with timely discharge information when people leave inpatient care. Additionally, 
the Trust will continue looking to maximise the quality of this communication to 
ensure its effectiveness. Supported by the CQUIN framework, the Trust will improve 
this communication by ensuring GPs have copies of up to date care plans, diagnostic 
information, and information about medication, monitoring and treatment requirements 
for patients on CPA. 

C&I have agreed with commissioners this year to work towards a new national 
CQUIN aiming to reduce A&E readmissions. An important factor in reducing A&E 
readmission is ensuring crisis planning is effective. With a view to moving towards a 
more comprehensive review of process and care provision, we have agreed with our 
commissioners to produce a qualitative report in Quarter 4 of 2015/16 reviewing quality 
and implementation of crisis plans. This review work will be undertaken under the Trust’s 
Quality Assurance Framework, and will be closely aligned with the standards of the 
Crisis Care Concordat.

Page 22



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /17

Key performance indicators
Quarterly audits will be undertaken of two key measures, each based on a sample of 
100 patients:

•   	Timeliness of communication with GPs: Percentage of discharge notifications 	
		  sent to GPs within five working days by electronic communication

•   	Quality of communication with GPs: Percentage of a sample of letters to GPs 	
		  that include:

– 	 Diagnostic coding;

–	 	 Up to date care plan information;

–	 	 Information about medication; and

–	 	 Monitoring and treatment requirements.

A further key performance indicator for 2015-16 will be:

•  	 Delivery of a Quarter 4 quality report on crisis planning. This report will include:

– 	 A review of crisis plans against national best practice standards;

–	 	 Findings from interviews with staff members and service user feedback;

–	 	 Formal qualitative and quantitative analysis to ensure findings are robust and 	
		  reliable; and

–	 	 As appropriate, development and implementation of action plans based  
		  on findings.

Findings from audits and the Q4 quality report will be shared with key stakeholders as 
part of quarterly performance reporting.

1.2.3		 Priority area 7 – CQUIN:  
					     Smoking cessation & substance misuse

Recently, the Trust has gone smoke free. This means that there are no longer facilitated 
smoking breaks, or any smoking permitted on Trust sites. To support this significant policy 
change, the Trust is redoubling efforts to provide support to stop smoking. This includes 
both direct support, such as provision of nicotine replacement therapy, and indirect 
support, such as provision of alternative activities in the 26 hours of nursing time saved 
each day by the removal of smoking breaks. This exciting but challenging step forward 
will also support improvements in physical health and wellbeing for service users. More 
information on the smoke free work is given in section 1.2. The Trust will also continue 
to prioritise supporting service users to manage substance use, and the provision of 
appropriate substance use assessment and management plans for service users.

Key performance indicators
Twice throughout the year (Quarter 2 and Quarter 4), C&I will include the results of two 
audits in quarterly performance reporting. These audits will be based on a sample of 
patients, and will be completed by reviewing a sample of clinical records. The audits will 
cover the:

•   	Proportion of service users with smoking cessation care plans; and 

•   	Proportion of service users with substance misuse assessments and appropriate 	
		  management plans in place.

1.2.4		 Priority area 8 – CQC Action Plan:  
					     Mental Capacity Act

One of the six CQC ‘must dos’ related to capacity and consent. The CQC noted that C&I 
needed to improve arrangements for obtaining and acting in accordance with service 
users’ consent, or where that does not apply, for establishing and acting in accordance 
with people’s best interests. To support this work and to develop best practice, the Trust 
has recently appointed a Mental Health Law Manager and a Mental Capacity Act Lead. 

Key improvement Initiatives
In 2015/16, these leads will support the ongoing implementation of the CQC action 
plan for Mental Capacity Act. Their work will involve ensuring MCA policy and 
associated procedures are reviewed and reflect best practice, and that these provide 
clear guidance for staff members across the Trust. They will also lead a programme of 
training to develop knowledge and skills in C&I staff.

Page 23



18/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Key performance indicators
Key milestones for monitoring progress in this area are:

•   	Ratification of policies by Quality Committee following presentation to Mental 	
		  Health Law Committee; and

•   	Delivery of training plans for capacity and consent across the Trust.

1.3  	Patient experience priorities
1.3.1		 Priority area 9 – CQUIN: Service user feedback
Service user feedback is essential for ensuring that the Trust is responsive, has a learning 
culture, and meets the needs of the local population. In 2014/15, the Trust achieved 
the Friends and Family Test CQUIN by making the Friends and Family Test (FFT) available 
to service users on the Trust website. (www.candi.nhs.uk/service-users-and-carers/
friends-and-family-survey). This year, the Trust will move on to encouraging all teams 
to remind service users to complete this, and using our iPads to allow service users to 
take part quickly and easily in services. We have been developing innovative ways to 
make this accessible to people who are most unwell in our services, including a project 
inviting former service users to visit acute division wards to support people in giving 
their feedback. More information about this exciting piece of work is given in section 
5.7_2.4, page 86.

Key performance indicators
Performance on this priority in 2015/16 will be measured by two key indicators:

• 	 Number of teams collecting FFT data. This CQUIN will be reported each quarter 	
				    as part of the business as usual performance report.

•   	Examples and evidence of changes made from patient feedback. It is essential 	
				    that we not only receive feedback, but make changes based on the things 	
				    people tell us. Therefore, we commit to sharing on our website throughout 	
				    the year, and in next year’s Quality Accounts, examples of the changes we have 	
				    made as a result.

1.3.2		 Priority area 10 – CQUIN: Supporting medication
A number of people using our services are prescribed medication as part of their care 
plan, to support their journey to recovery. It is well-documented that people often find 
it difficult to take their medication as prescribed, which can have substantial impact 
on its clinical effectiveness. In 2015/16, C&I will be focusing on providing people with 
appropriate information and support when they are prescribed medication. In turn, 
this may mean people are more likely to be able to take their medication as prescribed, 
including managing side effects that may occur. Further, this then reduces the risk of 
someone’s mental health deteriorating, and thus prevents crisis and avoidable hospital 
admissions. With this in mind, we have agreed with commissioners a CQUIN based on 
documentation of conversations about medications with each new prescription.

Key performance indicators
Quarterly audits will be undertaken of:

•		 Proportion of new prescriptions where evidence is documented of appropriate 	
		  information giving at the time of prescription, including side effects. This audit 	
		  will be based on a review of a sample of electronic patient records. Results will 	
		  be shared in quarterly performance reports.

Service user 
feedback is 
essential for 
ensuring that the 
Trust is responsive, 
has a learning 
culture, and meets 
the needs of the 
local population

Page 24



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /19

1.3.3		 Priority area 11 – CQC Action Plan: Patient transfers
Alongside other Trusts both in London and other parts of the country, C&I have 
experienced significant pressures on the available bed base throughout 2014/15. The 
Trust’s policy is absolutely clear that when somebody needs an inpatient admission, they 
will get one. At times, this means that beds need to be found with other providers. 
During the CQC visit, it was noted that sometimes people had been moved between 
wards for non-clinical reasons, because a bed was needed. This is something the Trust 
must improve and has made significant steps towards doing so. In addition to reducing 
non-clinical bed moves, the CQC action plan is also supporting work to develop transfer 
protocols so that when someone does move between beds for a clinical reason (e.g. 
moving from an assessment ward to a treatment ward) the handover is thorough and 
detailed, ensuring continuity of care.

Key performance indicators
Performance on this priority will be measured by:

•		 Number of non-clinical bed moves (rigorously monitored and discussed at weekly 	
		  bed management meetings); and

•		 Completion and close down of the CQC action plan for ward transfers.

Taking initiative: David helped set up a Club Drug clinic

Clinical Professional of the Year:  
Winner: David Mason, South Camden Drugs Service

Page 25



20/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.5 	Other information
This section includes information about the services provided 
by C&I, and about the audits and research the Trust has been 
involved in. It also reports information about data quality, 
information governance, and the most recent CQC review of 
our services.

1.1 	 Review of services
1.1.1 	Statements of assurance from the Board
During 2014/15, Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust provided and/or sub-
contracted the following four NHS services:

•		 Adult Mental Health;

•		 Services for Ageing and Mental Health;

•		 Substance Misuse;

•		 Learning Disability.

Camden & Islington Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to it on the 
quality of care in each of these NHS services.

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2014/15 represents 100% of 
the total income generated from the provision of NHS services by Camden and Islington 
NHS Foundation Trust for 2014/15.

The Trust has been able to review data for each of these services in the areas of patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness, and the board has received regular 
comprehensive updates and reports on quality throughout the year.

1.2 	 Participation in clinical audits and  
		  national confidential enquiries

The Trust participates both in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that are 
nationally mandated, and also those that are more locally agreed.

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries applicable to Camden & 
Islington Foundation Trust in 2014-15 were as follows:

1.	 Monitoring of antipsychotic prescribing in people with a learning disability 	
		  (Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health – POMH-UK)

2.	 National audit of intermediate care

3.	 Cardio metabolic assessment for people with schizophrenia (CQUIN)

4.	 Confidential enquiry into suicide and homicide by people with mental illness 	
		  (CISH).

1.3 	 Monitoring of antipsychotic prescribing in people with  
		  a learning disability

The Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH-UK) facilitates national audit-based 
quality improvement programmes open to all specialist mental health services in the UK. 
Data upload for this audit is currently underway. Results will be published in July 2015.

1.4 	 National audit of intermediate care
This audit is managed by the National Benchmarking Network, and results 
were published (www.nhsbenchmarking.nhs.uk/CubeCore/.uploads/NAIC/
NAICSummaryReport2014.pdf) in November 2014. The Trust submitted organisational 
data on the reablement service to this audit, which aimed to take a whole system view 
of intermediate care effectiveness, to support the development of quality standards, 
patient outcome measures and of local performance monitoring against agreed national 
standards.

Page 26



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /21

1.5 	 Cardio metabolic assessment for service users  
		  with schizophrenia

In January 2015, the Trust submitted 100 records for this audit, which formed part of 
the 2014/15 CQUIN suite. This audit, led by the Royal College of Psychiatrists, considers 
the implementation of appropriate processes for assessing, documenting and acting on 
cardio metabolic risk factors for people with schizophrenia. Results of the analysis will be 
published in April 2015.

1.6 	 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicides and Homicides
In 2014/15, the Trust has completed 22 suicide questionnaires as part of this audit and 
one sudden unexplained death questionnaire. This national audit reviews incidents of 
suicide and homicide in mental health patients and provides insight into patterns and 
risk factors, such as increased risk of suicide post-discharge from hospital. The findings 
of these reports influence local and national quality priorities.

Results from the national clinical audit programme administered by the Healthcare 
Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) are available at the HQIP website (www.hqip.
org.uk/national-clinical-audit/). Findings from the June 2014 report highlight the 
importance of follow up of people discharged from hospital, and the importance of 
managing ligature risks. Information about the Trust’s work in these areas is given in 
section 1.4_1.1.2, page 14.

1.7 	 Local audits
The Trust conducted 270 local clinical audits in 2014/15, the results of each of which 
have been reviewed by key leaders within the relevant teams, divisions or Trust-wide, 
dependent on the scope and requirements of the audit. Local audits have supported 
teams within the Trust’s divisions to monitor and improve their own practice, with 
support of the Clinical Audit Team. This has included quarterly audits of key indicators 
as part of the balanced scorecard programme. Balanced scorecards are developed for 
individual teams, with a focus on key quality metrics relevant to each service, as well as 
Trust-wide priorities. These audits are reviewed at divisional performance meetings, and 
action plans are developed to support improvements where needed.

1.8 	 Participation in clinical research
During 2014/15, 2,450 service users receiving services provided or sub-contracted by 
Camden & Islington Foundation Trust were recruited to participate in research approved 
by a research ethics committee. The Trust has been involved in 43 research studies, 
including 35 funded studies (one of which was a commercial trial) and eight unfunded. 
Researchers associated with the Trust have published 231 articles in peer reviewed 
journals.

1.9 	 Quality and Innovation: The CQUIN framework
During 2014/15, 2.5% of the Trust’s income was conditional on achieving CQUIN 
targets agreed at the beginning of the year, in line with the Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework. This framework is revised annually, 
with national guidance offering an overview of quality priorities and scope for local 
development and adaptation to ensure measures are meaningful and provide an 
appropriate and achievable quality stretch to organisations.

The CQUINs agreed for 2014/15 between Camden & Islington Foundation Trust and our 
commissioners were in the following areas:

1.	 Improving the physical health care of patients with mental health problems;

2.	 Ensuring fidelity to the recovery model through collaborative care planning;

3.	 Facilitating smoking cessation; and

4.	 Increasing successful completions for service users in drug treatment.

The income for 2013/14 conditional upon the achievement of quality improvement and 
innovation goals through the Associate Commissioner Agreements was £2,049,726. In 
2014/15, this was £1,839,752.

Page 27



22/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.10 	Statements from the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Camden & Islington Foundation Trust is registered with the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC).

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Camden and 
Islington NHS Foundation Trust during 2014/15. 

The Trust registers all of its services under three locations

1.	 St Pancras Hospital;

2.	 Highgate Mental Health Centre; and

3.	 Stacey Street Nursing Home.

All Trust services are then listed as subsidiaries of these locations, from which we are 
registered to provide a number of regulated activities.

In 2014/15, the CQC undertook a comprehensive inspection, as part of the pilot of their 
new inspection methodology. Therefore, a formal rating has not been given. The CQC 
report and subsequent quality summit identified a number of areas of good practice 
including strong leadership and praise for our caring staff.

The CQC identified six areas in which the Trust must improve:

1.	 Staff working in the acute wards must be clear about the steps they need 	
		  to take to reduce the risk of ligature points to patients, while work to reduce 	
		  these is taking place. The acute wards had many ligature points. Although 	
		  these had been assessed by a specialist surveyor and a programme of building 	
		  work was scheduled to start just after our inspection, and individual clinical risk 	
		  assessments were in place, ward staff were not clear about how this risk should 	
		  be managed.

2.	 There were a number of falls in the inpatient services for older people. The policy 	
		  for managing the risk of falls needs to be updated to consider recent NICE 	
		  guidance and staff must follow this guidance.

3.	 Learning from serious untoward incidents must be shared across wards and 	
		  teams quickly. Staff need to be supported to understand and use these lessons to 	
		  improve their service.

4.	 The development of procedures, training and management to ensure the 	
		  effective use of the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 	
		  has started. However, this needs further development so that staff, especially 	
		  in inpatient wards and the crisis resolution and home treatment teams, can use 	
		  the legislation with confidence to protect people’s human rights.

5.	 The movement of patients between acute inpatient wards for non-clinical 	
		  reasons must be kept to the minimum. Where it is unavoidable, arrangements 	
		  must be in place to ensure that a thorough handover takes place to promote 	
		  continuity of care.

6.	 The trust must ensure that the action plan for the PICU, which is part of the 	
		  ‘rapid improvement plan’, is kept up to date. This is to ensure the actions are 	
		  completed quickly so that people using the service receive the appropriate care 	
		  and treatment.

Following the visit, a Quality Summit was held together with our stakeholders to 
consider the issues raised. This positive event was an opportunity for everyone involved 
to consider the findings and the next steps. Following the CQC visit, the Trust developed 
a comprehensive action plan to address not only the ‘must do’ actions, but also the 
‘should do’ actions. As the themes of the action plan cut across the Trust’s five divisions, 
the action plan is divided into ten cross-cutting themes. Each theme has a lead, who 
has project management support to ensure a robust approach to delivery. Themed leads 
report to the CQC Programme Management Group, which in turn reports to the Quality 
Governance Committee. The cross-cutting themes of the CQC action plan are:

Page 28



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /23

1.	 Recruitment

2.	 Falls Management

3.	 Risk Management 

4.	 Capacity and Consent

5.	 Acute Care Pathways

6.	 Patient Experience

7.	 Access and Choice

8.	 Learning Disabilities

9.	 Medicines Management

10.	Therapeutic Activities.

Throughout 2015/16, the themed leads and the CQC Programme Management Group 
will be reporting regularly to the Quality Governance Committee on progress and 
completion of action plans. The CQC will revisit the Trust in May 2015 to assess progress 
on the action plans. The CQC’s full assessment report is available on their website  
(www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAA1933.pdf).

1.11 Data Quality
In 2014/15, the Trust has continued its focus on improving data quality, and has built on 
progress achieved during the previous year. The Trust set itself the following actions with 
regard to data quality:

1.	 To continue development of the Trust Information Assurance Framework;

2.	 To agree a set of data quality indicators linked to CQUIN targets for monthly 	
		  monitoring at the monthly data quality meetings, divisional performance .	
		  meetings and quarterly monitoring with the lead commissioner;

3.	 To continue to monitor the implementation of Data Quality Policy through 	
		  regular audit;

4.	 To further development of data quality and performance dashboards and align 	
		  data quality measures to national standards;

5.	 To ratify the implementation of pseudonymisation in line with Department of 	
		  Health guidelines.

With the focus on MH Tariff, Mental Health and Learning Disability (MHLDDS), and 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapy Services (IAPT) the Trust completed the 
monthly submission cycles throughout 2014/15 adhering to all mandatory and voluntary 
deadlines.

Data quality was further monitored for each submission throughout the year, with NHS 
Number compliance showing continual improvement with 99.9% for each submission, a 
0.2 increase on the previous year. GP practice code and code of commissioner exceeded 
99.6% for each of submission, showing increases from the previous year of 3.6% and 
0.2% respectively. Missing data items were validated as people not registered with a GP 
Practice and of no fixed abode because of the transient nature of the Trust’s population.

Throughout 2014/15 the Data Quality Group has continued to meet on a monthly basis 
to co-ordinate the implementation of the data quality strategy and monitor performance 
against data quality standards. To assist this process and to provide real-time information 
for service managers and clinicians, the Trust has continued its development of electronic 
activity and data quality dashboards. A significant effort has been made to implement 
MH Tariff with the percentage of services users being clustered increasing from 80% to 
94% and alignment of datasets to the national defined MH Tariff methods. This means 
that the number of eligible patients in trust MH Tariff services has increased by over 
1,110 as of 20th March 2015.

Page 29



24/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.12 	Clinical Coding
Along with the increase in the number of patients clinically coded we have also seen a 
year on year improvement in the quality of clinical coding. Data quality of clinical coding 
is monitored weekly in seven key areas. Definitions of each area are given below:

•		 Rare Transitions (There has been an unlikely clinical movement between cluster)

•		 Diagnosis Mismatch (There is a mismatch between diagnosis and cluster)

•		 Team Mismatch Inapplicable (There is a likely mismatch between the service and 	
		  the cluster, and so the cluster requires an update)

•		 Team Mismatch Review (There is a possible mismatch between the service and 	
		  the cluster. Cluster requires review)

•		 Initial Assessments (Cluster is based on the initial assessment)

•		 Red Rule (Cluster does not match the cluster assigned from HoNOS, based on 	
		  Mental Health Clustering Tool (MHCT) algorithm)

•		 Cluster Missing From Cluster Record (Cluster assessment has been completed but 	
		  no cluster has been selected).

Each of these key areas has demonstrated a measurable improvement by up to 6% 
in some cases and this has demonstrated a reduction in clinical data quality issues of 
2.07% whilst seeing the count of patient rise by over 1,110 as of 20th March 2014.

1.13 	Information Governance Toolkit 
Information Governance is about how the NHS and social care organisations and 
individuals handle information. This can be personal/patient, sensitive and corporate 
information. 

The Information Governance Toolkit is a performance tool produced by the Health 
and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC). It draws together the legal rules and 
central guidance related to Information Governance and presents them as one set of 
information governance requirements. Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust 
score for the Information Governance Toolkit was 78% and rated as a pass (green). 

Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust continually reviews its Information 
Governance Framework. This is to ensure that all personal and medical information held 
is managed, handled, used and disclosed in accordance with the law and best practice. 
In addition to the mandated information governance requirements training, data quality 
and clinical records management remains an area of focus. As a result, improvement has 
been seen across the Trust. 

The Trust is currently developing an information governance improvement plan to 
improve scores rated Level 2 this year, to Level 3.

Page 30



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /25

1.6 	Review of Quality Performance
The Quality Accounts process requires that Trusts identify 
three key quality performance indicators for each of 
three quality domains: safety, effectiveness and patient 
experience. The Trust’s performance on each of these 
indicators during the financial year (and in previous years 
where available) is set out below, along with a description 
of the construction of the indicator. This is usually done by 
working out a percentage of reviewed cases that meet 
an agreed standard. The percentage is worked out using 
relevant numerators and denominators for each indicator.

1.1 	 Safety
The Trust has selected the following three indicators to represent the safety domain:

•		 The proportion of inpatient service users (Services for Ageing and Mental Health) 	
		  who received assessment through the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool 	
		  (MUST) within 72 hours of admission;

•		 Completion of annual physical heath checks; and

•		 Proportion of staff reporting errors, near misses and incidents witnessed in the 	
		  month prior to the annual CQC survey.

1.1.1 	Compliance with standards of MUST policy
The ‘Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool’ (MUST) is a validated, evidence based tool 
designed to identify individuals who are malnourished or at risk of malnutrition (under-
nutrition and obesity). The use of MUST is included in NICE guidelines to tackle the issue 
of malnutrition and its use is particularly important for services such as those for older 
people. 

Numerator
All service users admitted to inpatient services at the time of the (quarterly) audit 
receiving a MUST assessment within 72 hours of admission.

Denominator
All service users admitted to inpatient services at the time of the (quarterly) audit. 

Reporting
This is audited and reported internally through the balanced scorecard process with 
results provided to commissioners as part of the Service Quality Improvement Plan which 
is presented to the Clinical Quality Review Group. The results of the quarterly audits of a 
sample of cases are presented in Table 1.

Q1Year

80%

73%

93%

100%

100%

100%

Q2

76%

78%

79%

94%

100%

100%

Q3

96%

92%

87%

100%

100%

100%

Q4

94%

78%

80%

100%

100%

100%

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Table 1: Performance figures

The target for this measure was 80%. The Trust has continually maintained 100% 
performance on this measure. Over the past four years, the Trust has undertaken a 
significant amount of work to improve nutrition screening, and these positive results 
show that this work is fully embedded in our practice.

Page 31



26/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Compliance with standards of  
MUST Policy

Target: 80%

2009/10
2010/11
2011/12
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
Target

1.1.2 	Annual physical health checks
This measure replaces the previous Quality Accounts measure regarding compliance with 
the Trust physical health policy. This change has been implemented to match the CQUINs 
C&I agreed with commissioners and to match quality priorities. This measure focuses on 
completion of physical health checks for patients on CPA with high risk physical health 
conditions; diabetes, CHD, COPH; hypertension and/or obesity. To evidence the work 
teams undertake to engage clients with physical healthcare, it is the expectation that 
at least two (and often more) outreach attempts to facilitate physical health checks are 
made for those who have not completed it.

Numerator
No. of patients on CPA (who are registered with a GP) identified as having Diabetes, 
CHD, COPD, hypertension and/or obesity with either a completed health check or 
recorded evidence of at least two outreach attempts to facilitate it.

Denominator
No. of patients on CPA (who are registered with a GP) identified as having Diabetes, 
CHD, COPD, hypertension and/or obesity.

Reporting
This measure is completed via quarterly audit of electronic patient records.

Page 32



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /27

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Annual physical health checks

Target 2014/15: 98%

Target

The Trust has performed well on this ambitious target during the year, and has met 
the target each quarter. Despite remaining above the 95% target, we are currently 
investigating a small dip to 98% in Quarter 4 of the year.

1.1.3 	Proportion of staff reporting errors, near misses  
					     and incidents witnessed in the month prior to the 	
					     annual CQC survey

The CQC undertakes an annual survey of staff for all NHS Trusts and one area the 
questionnaire addresses is the reporting of errors, near misses and incidents. The Trust 
seeks incident reporting and learning from incidents and to create an environment 
whereby staff are encouraged and facilitated to report.

Numerator
The number of staff indicating in the annual CQC staff survey that they had witnessed 
an error, near miss or incident in the month prior to their completion of the survey 
questionnaire who had also indicated that they had reported this.

Denominator
The number of staff indicating in the annual CQC staff survey that they had witnessed 
an error, near miss or incident in the month prior to their completion of the survey 
questionnaire.

Performance
Trust scores remain on a par with the National Average for this indicator.

Page 33



28/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Trust ScoreYear

92%

90%

98%

94%

96%

92%

90%

National Median

97%

97%

97%

97%

98%

92%

90%

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Table 2: Performance figures

Remaining consistent with the national average on this measure is a good result for 
the Trust. However, this is something that we would like to improve in 2015/16, as the 
Trust has undertaken work to increase rates of incident reporting throughout the year. 
Ongoing work in this area includes development of the incident reporting system to 
facilitate effective reporting, and highlighting the importance of incident reporting at 
Trust induction. 

1.2 	 Effectiveness
The Trust has selected the following three indicators to represent the effectiveness 
domain:

1.	 The proportion of service users receiving a weekly review of their inpatient  
		  care plan;

2.	 The proportion of inpatient service users whose stay was 100 days or more;

Recovery rate in Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT).

1.2.1 	Frequency of review of care plans in  
					     inpatient services

It is important for services to react swiftly to changes in our service users’ mental and 
physical health and to their personal circumstances and we must be quick to review 
and amend care plans to reflect these changes. The Trust Care Programme Approach 
(CPA) Policy outlines the standards expected of our care teams in this area. A measure to 
monitor this is included in the balanced scorecard process for inpatient services.

Numerator
All service users currently admitted to inpatient services at the time of audit with evidence 
that their care plan has been reviewed in the seven days preceding the audit.

Denominator
All service users currently admitted to inpatient services at the time of audit.

Action plan
The Trust’s historical performance differs across teams and divisions for this indicator. 
Performance against this measure is monitored on a team-level at monthly divisional 
performance meetings, with action plans developed and implemented to ensure rapid 
improvement at times when performance is reduced. A summary of performance since 
2010 is given in the table and chart below.

The Trust exceeded the 85% target in three of four quarters in 2014/15, and will 
continue actively working on this measure in 2015/16. Any teams not meeting this target 
are identified each quarter, and action plans are submitted to and monitored through 
divisional performance meetings. Steps in place to ensure the Trust continues to meet this 
target and improves on the current score in 2015/16 include: improving cover for primary 
nursing duties when staff members are on leave, discussion and development of care 
planning in supervision and the use of weekly audit tools.

Page 34



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /29

Q1Year

67%

80%

76%

81%

75%

89%

Q2

61%

75%

73%

90%

88%

80%

Q3

76%

80%

65%

92%

94%

86%

Q4

76%

85%

94%

93%

93%

85%

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Table 3: Performance figures

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Frequency of review of care plans in 
inpatient services

Target 2014/15: 85%

2009/10
2010/11
2011/12
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
Target

Page 35



30/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.2.2 	Average length of stay – stays of three months or more
The Trust monitors its average length of stay for inpatient care spells to ensure that there 
is effective provision of care across inpatient and community-based services. As one 
aspect of average length of stay monitoring, in 2011/12 the Trust set, through a review 
of historical and benchmarked bed usage, an internal target of no more than 20% of 
inpatient stays being 100 days or longer. This is part of the process of ensuring that 
people do not stay in hospital longer than needed, and are supported to return to the 
community.

Numerator
Number of inpatient discharges per quarter whose length of stay is more than three 
months.

Denominator
Number of inpatient discharges per quarter.

Q1Year

12%

10%

9%

9%

13%

Q2

11%

9%

13%

15%

13%

Q3

9%

11%

15%

8%

10%

Q4

9%

10%

12%

9%

12%

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Table 4: Performance figures

Average Length of Stay  
- Stays of three months or more

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Q1
11/12

Q2
11/12

Q3
11/12

Q4
11/12

Q1
12/13

Q2
12/13

Q3
12/13

Q4
12/13

Q1
13/14

Q2
13/14

Q3
12/13

Q4
13/14

Q1
14/15

Q2
14/15

Q3
14/15

Q4
14/15

Performance TargetTarget 2014/15: 20%

Target 2014/15: <20%

The target for percentage of admissions over 100 days was set within the Trust for the 
balanced scorecard programme at <20%. ALOS and LOS over 100 days have remained 
consistently below 20%, and across the four quarters are at similar levels to previous years. 

Page 36



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /31

1.2.3 	The number of people who are moving to recovery 	
					     in IAPT services

The Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme was launched in 
2007. It aims to investigate ways to improve the availability of psychological therapies, 
especially relating to people with depression or anxiety disorders. It also aims to promote 
a more person-centred approach to therapy. This measure aims to assess the rate of 
successful treatment outcomes for the services.

Numerator
Number of service users completing treatment with IAPT services in the quarter who 
had recovered (i.e. who no longer met the criteria for depression or anxiety) at their final 
treatment session.

Denominator
Number of service users completing treatment with IAPT services in the quarter who at 
assessment had scores in the clinical range.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15Year

631/1706
(37%)

675/1740
(39%)

603/1622
(37%)

786/2053
(38%)

680/1684
(40%)

701/2009
(35%)

582/1512
(38.5%)

701/1909
(36.7%)

43.02%

47.30%

Camden

Islington

Table 5: Performance figures

Target 2014/15: 45%

The recovery rate target was exceeded in Islington, and narrowly missed in Camden in 
2014/15. Both boroughs showed improved scores on this measure from previous years. 
The Trust also provides an IAPT service in Kingston. At year end, the Kingston recovery 
rate was 39%. Recovery rates across all three IAPT sites have improved in 2014/15. This 
is the result of intensive work across the year from all three teams.

1.3 	 Patient Experience
The Trust has selected the following three indicators to represent the patient  
experience domain:

1.	 The number of carers receiving advice or services following a carer’s assessment;

2.	 The proportion of service users in inpatient services (and particularly Psychiatric 	
		  Intensive Care Units or PICU) being offered at least 4 activities per week; and

3.	 PLACE (Patient-Led Assessments of the Clinical Environment) assessment scores.

1.3.1 	Advice and services to carers
The needs of carers are of paramount importance. Ensuring the well-being of carers is a 
significant factor in also ensuring the wellbeing of the people for whom they care.

Numerator
The number of carers receiving a ‘carer’s break’ or other specific carers’ services, or 
advice or information, during the year following a carer’s assessment or review.

Denominator
The number of adults receiving a community-based service during the year.

Between 2008/09 and 2010/11 targets for advice and services to carers were set 
separately by commissioners in the boroughs of Camden and Islington and targets have 
been formatted differently as either absolute numbers of carers or as percentages of 
the overall number of carers. They have also in different years been set either separately 
for adults of working age and older people, or as a joint target. This has made trend 
comparisons complex. We now have comparable data to support measurement  
and analysis.

Page 37



32/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Target2011/12

30%

25%

Performance

28%

26%

Camden

Islington

Table 6: Performance figures

Target

Target

Target

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

35%

35%

27%

28%

35%

Performance

Performance

Performance

25.91%

19%

TBC

26.5%

26%

26.3% (Q3 position)

Camden

Camden

Camden

Islington

Islington

Islington

This measure remains a challenge, although performance in Camden has seen a 
substantial improvement this year. This is something the Trust will continue to work 
alongside local authority colleagues to improve in 2015-16.

1.3.2 	Provision of activities in inpatient teams 
The provision and encouragement of occupational therapy and leisure activities are a 
vital component of recovery within mental health inpatient services. This provision has 
been monitored by the Trust through its balanced scorecard process for several years and 
quarterly audits check to see whether individual service users have been offered or taken 
up at least four activities per week.

Numerator
The number of service users currently admitted to inpatient services at the time of the 
audit with evidence that they had been offered or taken up at least four occupational 
therapy sessions, art therapy sessions, or other leisure activities in the seven days 
preceding the audit.

Denominator
The number of service users currently admitted to inpatient services at the time of audit.

The Trust has remained above target on this measure for all quarters in 2014/15. In 
2015/16, the Trust will be working to improve provision of activities further as this 
was identified as a ‘should do’ in the CQC report and therefore is incorporated in the 
comprehensive action plan. The Trust will also be working to ensure that data remains 
more consistent throughout the year by ensuring the availability of supernumerary 
activity workers.

Q1Year

80%

88%

77%

74%

85%

77%

Q2

60%

79%

83%

86%

81%

78%

Q3

67%

85%

82%

89%

85%

90%

Q4

86%

79%

84%

88%

87%

78%

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Table 7: Performance figures

Page 38



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /33

20%

0%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q4Q3 Q1 Q2 Q4 Q2 Q4 Q2 Q4Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q2 Q4 Q2 Q4Q3 Q1 Q3

Provision of activities  
performance chart

Camden and Islington Target

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

1.3.3 	PLACE (Patient-Led Assessments of the  
					     Care Environment) assessment scores 

In April 2013, the Department of Health (DoH) introduced new Patient-Led Assessments 
of the Care Environment (PLACE) to replace the previous Patient Environment Action 
Teams (PEAT) inspections.

The aim of PLACE assessments is to provide a snapshot of how an organisation 
is performing against a range of non-clinical criteria which impact on the service 
users experience of care: cleanliness; the condition, appearance and maintenance of 
healthcare premises; the extent to which the environment supports the delivery of care 
with privacy and dignity; and the quality and availability of food and drink.

PLACE assessments are undertaken annually to support other external quality indicators. 
The criteria included in PLACE assessments are not standards, but they do represent 
those aspects of care which patients/service users and the public have identified as 
important, and good practice, as identified by professional organisations e.g. The 
Hospital Caterers Association. Although PLACE is a non-technical assessment, the 
views expressed come from service users or ex-service users, who are or have been 
recipients of services in Trust premises. Notwithstanding the non-technical nature of 
the assessments they are nonetheless published widely and form a publicly available 
assessment of health care conditions.

The Trust completed this year’s round of PLACE inspections in June 2014, which 
were conducted in line with national guidance and led by a team of service user 
representatives, supported by estates and facilities managers, matrons and infection 
control colleagues. The most recent PLACE results (2014) are very positive.

Page 39



34/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Cleanliness
(%)

Site

9797

96

98

100

100

100

97

97

Food
(%)

9393

94

90

87

94

-

93

90

Privacy, dignity
& wellbeing (%)

Condition, Appearance 
& Maintenance (%)

9090

89

80

83

70

76

88

90

9595

91

92

97

100

97

95

92

HMHC

St. Pancras Hospital

Stacey Street

Drayton Park

Daleham Gdns.

154 Camden Road

Average C&I Score

Comparative Trusts

HMHC

PLACE Scores 2014

1.4 	 Review of Monitoring Processes 
Progress to achieve our priority areas for improvement for 2015/16 (as set out at 
1.3) will be monitored, measured and reported through our on-going monitoring 
processes detailed below.

Balanced scorecard process
The Trust has completed its thirteenth year of balanced scorecard service improvement 
work. Each year, the performance indicators included in balanced scorecards are 
reviewed to ensure that they measure meaningful, relevant information and support 
development and monitoring of high quality service provision. Balanced scorecards 
are produced for the vast majority of clinical teams. Many of the quality indicators 
featured in the Quality Accounts are monitored at an individual service level through the 
balanced scorecard process. Balanced scorecard data is provided by teams, analysed and 
reported by the Clinical Audit Team and discussed at local and trust-wide forums. Where 
balanced scorecards show that improvements are needed, action plans are developed 
and monitored at monthly performance meetings.

Performance framework 
During 2014/15, the Trust has followed its performance framework, which sets out the 
key performance indicators and targets the Trust is expected to achieve. This framework 
has provided an effective way of monitoring performance, and has provided transparency 
about the Trust’s delivery on key measures.

Monthly divisional performance meetings 
Each division has a monthly performance review meeting with the Trust’s Chief Operating 
Officer. In this meeting, the measures from the performance framework are reviewed, 
and any necessary actions to improve or stretch performance are identified. These 
meetings are attended by members of the divisional team, as well as representatives from 
governance, clinical audit, human resources, finance and information teams.

Quarterly performance reports
The Trust Board receives a quarterly performance monitoring report covering all national 
indicators and assessment processes, agreed quality indicator sets for commissioning 
bodies and locally derived quality measures. Performance reports are made available on 
the Trust website, and are discussed in detail with key stakeholders.

Electronic performance dashboards
All staff across the Trust can access online quality and performance management 
dashboards. These dashboards provide real-time performance information on key issues, 
extracted from the Trust’s record systems. For example, clinicians can see any key clinical 
documentation that requires review or completion, and managers can view their team’s 
performance at a glance.

Page 40



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /35

Quality reports to commissioners
In addition to the activity reports provided to commissioners, 2014/15 saw the 
continuation of quarterly quality meetings and quality reports to the Trust’s lead 
commissioners at the six-weekly Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG). Performance 
against CQUIN targets, contractual quality, and service development improvement plan 
indicators are monitored along with reviews of learning from incidents and complaints. 
Camden and Islington Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have significant input into 
deciding priorities for quality improvement and in setting quality indicator targets.

Electronic patient experience & clinical audit data
In 2014/15, the Trust implemented an online system for capturing data about patient 
experience, and to support online completion of some of the Trust’s audits, including 
Balanced Scorecards. The Trust now receives results for key surveys, such as the Friends 
and Family Test, via this method, as well as information from surveys designed by service 
users for service users. This gives real-time data, and removes the need for administration 
and data-entry time.

Team of the Year:  
Special Commendation: Jasper WardPage 41



36/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.7 	Key Quality Initiatives in 2014/15
This section of the report describes the initiatives that teams 
and services have undertaken in the past year to improve 
the safety and effectiveness of care and the quality of the 
service user experience.

1.1 	 Sign up to Safety Campaign
Sign up to Safety is a new national patient safety campaign that was launched in June 
2014 with the mission to strengthen patient safety in the NHS and make it the safest 
healthcare system in the world.

This campaign wants to establish and deliver a single vision for the whole NHS to 
become the safest healthcare system in the world. The campaign aims to take all the 
activities and programmes that each of the NHS organisations currently own and align 
them with this single common purpose.

The Trust’s Commitment 
In order for the Trust to sign up campaign there are five commitments:

1.	 The Trust will set out the actions that the organisation will undertake in response 	
		  to the five Sign up to Safety pledges (see below) and will publish this on the Trust 	
		  website for staff, patients and the public to see;

2.	 The Trust will commit to turn the proposed actions into a safety improvement 	
		  plan which will show how the organisation intends to save lives and reduce harm 	
		  for patients over the next 3 years;

3.	 Within the safety improvement plan the Trust will identify the patient safety 	
		  improvement areas that we will focus on;

4.	 The Trust will engage with the local community, patients and staff to ensure that 	
		  the focus of the plan reflects what is important to the community we serve; and

5.	 The Trust will make the plan public and regularly update progress against it.

The five Sign up to Safety pledges 
Trusts that sign up to the campaign commit to setting out actions they will undertake in 
response to the following five pledges:

1.	 Put safety first. Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and make 	
		  public the goals and plans developed locally.

C&I will:

1.	 Commit to reducing avoidable harm 

2.	 Identify key areas of avoidable harm and take action to reduce

3.	 Publish our safety goals and improvement plans on the C&I website

4.	 Continually learn. Make their organisations more resilient to risks, by acting on 	
		  the feedback from patients and by constantly measuring and monitoring how 	
		  safe their services are.

C&I will:

1.	 Learn from all levels of incident reporting, complaints, feedback and claims

2.	 Use learning lessons workshops following serious incidents to ensure learning is 	
		  shared across the organisation.

3.	 Implement action plans following incidents of avoidable harm

4.	 Continue to develop and circulate internal patient safety alerts in immediate 	
		  response to patient safety concerns

5.	 Follow the After Action Review process after incidents

6.	 Honesty. Be transparent with people about their progress to tackle patient safety 
		  issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if  
		  something goes wrong.

Across the 
UK, smoking 
prevalence has 
consistently 
decreased over 
the past 50 years…
However, for our 
service users, 
tobacco addiction 
rates have not 
changed for  
30 years.

Page 42



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /37

C&I will:

1.	 Be open and accountable to our patients and their families

2.	 Support staff to be open and honest when something goes wrong 

3.	 Continue to offer face to face meeting with patients and relatives to feedback 	
		  investigation findings.

4.	 Make patient safety everyone’s responsibility

5.	 Meet our responsibilities under Duty of Candour

6.	 Collaborate. Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so that 	
		  improvements are made across all of the local services that patients use.

C&I will:

1.	 Work in partnership with CCGs, other providers and patient/carer groups on key 	
		  patient safety initiatives. 

2.	 Participate in regional and national patient safety collaborative network 
		  meetings.

3.	 Support. Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them 	
		  right. Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the progress.

C&I will:

1.	 Provide staff members with clinical and management supervision

2.	 Hold debrief sessions to support staff following incidents 

3.	 Be open and supportive to patients, families and carers following an incident

4.	 Make sure that staff involved in incidents are offered management and 
		  occupational health support as appropriate following incidents

5.	 Ensure staff members are well-trained, and that they are able to access 
		  development opportunities to ensure that they have the right skills to provide 	
		  good quality care

6.	 Ensure staff are supported and protected when raising concerns at work.

1.2 	 Smokefree
Across the UK, smoking prevalence has consistently decreased over the past 50 years, 
and was 18.5% in 2014. However, for our service users, tobacco addiction rates have 
not changed for 30 years. Of people with mental health problems, 40-80% smoke. 
Death rates from respiratory diseases are ten times higher for people with schizophrenia, 
and the average life expectancy is equal to the general population in the 1950’s. The 
primary cause of this unacceptable ‘mortality gap’ is the disproportionate smoking 
prevalence, which has excluded people with mental illnesses from realising the health 
and quality of life improvements afforded to the rest of society. 

C&I first introduced ‘smoke-free’ sites in 2007, a year before the legal requirement for 
mental health services to remove all indoor smoking areas. At this time, it was common 
practice across almost all mental health trusts to provide smoking areas within hospital 
gardens. Access to these smoking areas was facilitated by nursing staff on a timetabled 
basis throughout the day, to help patients to continue to smoke. What we now know is 
that this practice has led to a continuation of a ‘smoking culture’ within psychiatric care, 
which provides social incentives to smoke, and undermines efforts to promote smoking 
cessation. Tobacco smoke is a ‘Class A’ carcinogen, for which there is no safe level of 
exposure. Licit and illicit smoking in Trust sites results in exposure by staff and service 
users to second-hand smoke, breaching the right of staff and service users to work or be 
treated in an environment free of harmful substances.

In 2014 C&I received funding from Islington CCG to employ a Matron for one year to 
begin to implement revised NICE guidelines on smoking cessation in secondary care, 
which clearly address the disparity in the management of nicotine dependent service 
users between different types of NHS services.

Page 43



38/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

During a scoping exercise in Q1 2014/2015 the smoking prevalence for inpatient 
service users in C&I was 63%, and 26 hours of nursing time each day was being spent 
facilitating smoking within 10 of the 11 gardens at our inpatient sites. A month-long 
engagement exercise was held to coincide with the Public Health England ‘Stoptober’ 
initiative, where the views of staff and service users on the management of smoking in 
Trust services were sought through a combination of survey, focus groups, engagement 
with strategic and peer representative groups, and trade union representatives. 

In December 2014 a revised ‘nicotine management policy’ was developed, between 
the Trust and service user representatives, acknowledging nicotine dependence as 
a substance use disorder, and bringing clinical treatment protocols in line with the 
management of other substance use disorders. This policy delivers compliance with NICE 
guidelines by ensuring that smoking areas and facilitated smoking arrangements are 
removed, inpatients are provided with access to nicotine replacement therapies 24 hours 
per day, and all service users have access to smoking cessation support, wherever they 
are in the care pathway. In addition, following feedback from service users, and a review 
of the evidence base, the policy contains measures to safely support service users who 
wish to use electronic cigarettes in their bedrooms while being cared for in a 24 hour 
care setting. 

From January to March 2015 high profile communication about the changes occurred 
across the Trust, access to smoking areas for inpatients was incrementally reduced, 
training in managing nicotine dependence commenced for all inpatient staff, and 
nicotine replacement therapy began being widely prescribed across the wards. 
Registered inpatient nurses are being trained to supply a limited range of nicotine 
replacement therapies at the point of admission without need for a prescription, using a 
patient group direction, to ensure support is offered from the point that it is needed. 

C&I implemented the nicotine management policy across all Trust sites on 11th March 
2015, to coincide with national no smoking day, and are developing a programme of 
therapeutic activities to replace facilitated smoking within our wards.

1.3 	 Complaints event
In March 2015, the Trust hosted the National Complaints Group. This one day event was 
attended by representatives from across the country, and featured a keynote speaker 
from the Department of Health, sessions on good practice in complaints and an update 
from the Ombudsman service.

1.4  	 Integrated Practice Unit for people living with psychosis
Camden and Islington Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have committed to 
working with providers to improve the experience and outcomes of care for people 
living with psychosis, addressing both their physical and mental health needs and 
enabling people who live with psychosis to live “Longer, healthier, happier lives”. CCG 
and provider Chief Executive Officers have agreed to use a value based commissioning 
approach to drive this, with payment based on achievement against a set of outcomes 
that have been agreed, by providers, commissioners and patients, as being important 
for people living with psychosis. A central aspect of value based commissioning is the 
reorganisation of selected services into an ‘integrated practice unit’ (IPU). This will enable 
greater integration of care, and improve patient experience and outcomes. 

The IPU will offer as far as possible a ‘one stop shop’ model, supported by individual 
care planning and strong care coordination. A tiered approach will be taken to physical 
health support, which will be provided in partnership with GPs. Mental health support 
and preventative services will also be provided. 

Page 44



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /39

1.5 	 Quality improvement projects in Camden Crisis Houses
Camden Crisis Houses were established to provide an alternative to acute inpatient 
hospital admissions that places the person at the centre of all interventions and decisions 
about treatment and support. From the outset, they have been committed to evaluating 
their service provision in terms of user experience, satisfaction, clinical and demographic 
profiles, and care pathways. 

Over the course of 2014/15, staff at both Camden crisis houses have undertaken audits 
monitoring access, outcomes and interventions, and have ensured that results of these 
are displayed within the houses. This helps to keep people who are staying, staff, and 
visitors informed about the services. They have also been running regular Service User 
Forums in both North and South Camden where past and current service users meet to 
discuss their progress and share ideas for further service improvement. 

From November 2014 audits of referrals to the Jules Thorn and the North Camden Acute 
Day Units have been carried out. Team discussions of the findings from the audits have 
resulted in a revamp of the referral forms to more effectively inform both the referrer 
and the person about benefits of attending the Day Units and to encourage more 
collaboration on the interventions offered and strategies to engage more service users. 

An evaluation is currently underway to examine the person pathway through the 
Camden Crisis Houses and Acute Day Units that will include interviews with staff and 
service users with the objective of exploring how the service and spaces work to treat 
and support people. This will potentially lead to exciting new developments in 2015/16.

1.6 	 Positive and Proactive Care
In 2014, the Department of Health published new guidance: Positive and Proactive 
Care: reducing the need for restrictive interventions. The publication of this guidance 
commenced a two year programme to address the way in which risk of harm is managed 
across mental health and learning disability services. The guidance requires mental health 
care providers to have policy, training and monitoring mechanisms in place that support 
least restrictive practice, in particular, reducing the use of restraint and seclusion.

Our goal at C&I is to reduce use of restraint, and to eradicate planned prone restraint 
within the two year programme. The positive and proactive approach is being led 
by the practice development nursing team, though its success really depends on 
collaboration across teams and services. Progress on this work is monitored by a monthly, 
multidisciplinary, cross-divisional working group. This work has already led to a reduction 
in the number of restraint incidents and an improvement in the quality of behavioural 
support planning and incident reporting. Feedback from NHS England is that our restraint 
use is in the lowest quartile compared to other Trusts.

In December 2014, C&I launched revised policies on prevention and management of 
violence and aggression (PMVA), seclusion and rapid tranquilization. We have also 
negotiated changes in the delivery of mandatory PMVA training, to increase the focus on 
de-escalation and the eradication of planned restraint. The implementation of Safe Wards 
has been incorporated into the positive and proactive care workstream, and in the past 
year a further six wards have worked with practice development nurses to implement the 
Safe Wards programme. The Trust has also been piloting the use of After Action Review 
as our preferred approach to post-incident debriefing. In the coming year, AAR training 
and support will be widely available across the Trust.

Page 45



40/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

2.1 	 Nurse Consultant-led Training
2.1.1 	Housing staff training
Over six sessions during 2014/15, training co-facilitated with Rethink has been provided 
to 123 members of housing staff. Of the 118 that completed feedback, 95% rated 
the course as ‘good’ or ‘very good’. These participants worked in a variety of customer 
service roles within the London Borough of Islington Housing including the Antisocial 
Behaviour Service, Arrears collection, Housing information and tenancy management.

Rating before
course

Mean  
improvement

Rating after 
course

Year

4.44

5.41

4.94

8.28

8.31

7.00

+3.37

+3.54

+3.39

Mean score of your personal 
understanding of what is 
meant by mental health 

Mean score of personal 
understanding of how stigma 
and discrimination can impact 
on people affected by mental 
health problems 

Average rate of confidence in 
supporting someone who is 
in distress due to their mental 
health problems 

Table 8

2.1.2 	Practice nurse training
Training sessions for GP practice nurses have been offered throughout the year by the 
Nurse Consultant, often co-facilitated with a Community Matron for Mental Health.  
This training includes four modules:

1.	 Mental health awareness

2.	 Behaviour change

3.	 Physical health in mental illness

4.	 Wellbeing.

These sessions were offered on ten occasions, though attendance has been poor, with 
only 14 participants. Feedback for those that have attended has been very positive.  
The ongoing plan is to offer shorter, bespoke sessions to practice staff at a time 
convenient to their schedule to maximise attendance, and to focus on the elements 
most important to them. 

2.1.3 	Other training
Further training was provided as an adjunct to the Long Term Condition Champions 
sessions being held in the borough. This was attended by Practice Nurses, Community 
Matrons and specialist Nurses. Training on client motivation and behaviour change was 
included for the nine champions attending a session on heart failure, and training on 
motivating clients towards medication concordance was delivered to 12 participants 
within a medications management session.

Mental health training was provided to councilors in Islington in November 2014, who 
have requested further skill-based sessions be delivered in 2015/16.

Page 46



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /41

2.1.4 	Further scoping
Further scoping has been undertaken to explore mental health training needs within 
primary care. This has involved soliciting ideas and feedback from district nurses, 
practice nurses, and community matrons, which will influence 2015/16 training. Scoping 
exercises have identified that training needs for primary care staff include support with 
mental health awareness and capacity to have conversations about mental health, skills 
training in engagement, behaviour change, working with clients with problematic or 
challenging behaviour, talking about risk and suicide, and involving clients with mental 
health problems in practice opportunities and patient participation groups.

In 2015/16, we will continue collaborating with other providers to meet the training 
needs identified in the scoping. The nurse consultant will continue to provide training 
for GP practice staff and there will be ongoing liaison with the Practice Nurse Forum 
to find creative ways to maximise attendance at educational opportunities for Practice 
Nurses.

2.2 	 Thematic review of unexpected deaths
Following 19 serious incidents involving patients in contact with C&I between November 
2013 and May 2014, Wendy Wallace, Chief Executive, commissioned an independent 
thematic review in line with the Trust’s Serious Incident Procedure. The purpose of 
the review was to determine whether the incidents formed a cluster linked by certain 
characteristics, and to identify any service related themes or issues associated with the 
incidents. The review was chaired by an external expert, with senior C&I colleagues 
joining the panel. 

The spread of incidents, their relationship in time and place, and the lack of connections 
between the individuals involved does not suggest the presence of a cluster. The panel 
noted that the number of suicides identified in the review was greater than might 
be expected for the population in the time period, but also that it is difficult to make 
predictions from the ‘expected’ suicide rate (as predicted by the National Confidential 
Inquiry). Although there was no cluster identified in these serious incidents, this detailed 
analysis across a number of incidents provided valuable insight and learning for C&I. We 
are continuing to work to deliver action plans from recommendations of each serious 
incident investigation. More detail on ongoing work to ensure lessons are learned is 
given in section 1.6, page 45.

2.3 	 Quality Assurance Framework
In the 2013/14 Quality Accounts, we described the development of the Trust’s internal 
Quality Assurance Framework (QAF). This framework provides a systematic approach 
for monitoring and addressing quality issues, identifying potential risks at an early stage 
and taking action to make improvements when needed. In 2014/15, this framework 
has gathered pace. We have trialled, reviewed and updated our methodology for 
conducting internal quality assurance visits to specific services, and recently conducted 
the first themed review focused on ‘must do’ themes of the CQC action plan in 
inpatient services. In response to learning from our first two rapid improvement plans, 
we have also revised this aspect of the framework. We have introduced two levels of 
improvement plan; standard and enhanced. The scope and governance of these plans is 
guided by the risk management strategy, the Trust’s risk appetite and assessments of the 
risk presented by quality problems identified. Key areas for development over the next 
year include involving service users as experts by experience in quality assurance reviews, 
and continuing to implement standard and enhanced improvement plans at times that 
this is needed. 

Page 47



42/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

2.4 	 Patient Reported Experience Measures (PREMs)
In 2014, the Trust again took part in the CQC Service User Survey. This year, response 
rates improved to 25% (200 participants) compared with a national response rate 
of 29%. Due to significant changes to the questionnaire in 2014, the data is not 
comparable with the survey undertaken in 2013.

The 2014 data again highlighted the diversity of the local population C&I serve, in 
comparison to other trusts across the country. On most measures, the Trust performed 
similarly to the national average (national summary available here www.cqc.org.uk/
sites/default/files/MH14%20national%20summary%20v9%20with%20trust%20
section%20FINAL.pdf). The overall national findings of over 13,500 participants were 
that two thirds of respondents rated their overall experience of community mental 
health services as seven out of ten or above, but that there is more to be done.

The Community Mental Health Survey results give each trust a rating of better, about 
the same or worse than other trusts. Encouragingly, C&I had no areas with ‘worse’ 
ratings, and ‘better’ ratings were given in seven areas:

1.	 Person seen most recently understanding how mental health needs affect other 	
		  areas of life;

2.	 Receiving the help needed in a crisis;

3.	 For people receiving treatments or therapies other than medicine, being involved 	
		  as much as service user wanted in deciding what therapies to use;

4.	 Help finding support for financial advice or benefits;

5.	 Help finding support for finding or keeping work;

6.	 Being supported in taking part in local activities; and

7.	 Feeling hopeful.

These results show the Trust is performing well in comparison to other trusts on these 
measures. However, assessing patient experience is a complex process, and we still 
have work to do in order to understand the experience of people using our services, 
and to ensure we make continuous improvements. A detailed results table is given on 
page 52. C&I’s full results can also be viewed here. (www.cqc.org.uk/provider/TAF/
survey/6#undefined).

In 2014/15, we began using our online system for capturing patient feedback.  
The Friends and Family Test is now available to all service users on our new website.  
(www.candi.nhs.uk/service-users-and-carers/friends-and-family-survey). We have 
also used this exciting technology to facilitate innovative patient experience projects. In 
the Acute Division, former service users have developed a service-user led audit tool to 
be completed by current service users on tablet devices. The former service users have 
been visiting acute division services to support the completion of these measures. The 
pilot of this project began on the St. Pancras site in March 2015 and interviews have 
been conducted with over 40 service users so far. Over the coming months, we will be 
continually sharing feedback with teams, taking actions in response to the feedback 
and keeping all of our staff and service users informed of the changes that they are 
making. In 2015/16, C&I will launch our patient experience strategy, which will provide 
our forward view on patient reported outcome measures, patient experience initiatives 
and patient experience priorities for C&I. This strategy is currently being developed in 
collaboration with staff, service users and other stakeholders.

Page 48



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /43

2.5 	 NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) – Risk Management 	
		  Standards assessment

The Trust successfully achieved a Level 2 assessment of the NHS Litigation Authority 
(NHSLA) Risk Management Standards in September 2011. Following a change in 
approach, the NHSLA will not be updating these standards and will be carrying out no 
further assessments after March 2014. In their place the NHSLA are developing a ‘Safety 
and Learning Service’, with the aim of supporting Trusts to build a safety and learning 
culture through their work in learning from claims. 

The NHSLA risk management standards however, reflect good risk management 
practice, and the Trust will continue to use them as a basis to address relevant areas of 
risk for as long as they apply to the Trust and reflect current processes and practice.

2.6 	 Advice and Complaints Service
Depending on the complexity of the complaint, our internal Trust targets for responding 
to formal complaints are either 10, 25 or 45 days. The Trust has continued to face 
challenges meeting these timescales this year. The Trust received 180 formal complaints 
this year compared to 194 in the previous year. In addition 275 informal complaints 
and contacts were received compared to 216 in the previous business year. The team 
continue to work to support the informal resolution of complaints at an early stage. 
Whilst it is too soon to attribute the reduction in formal and increase in informal 
complaints to this work, this will be a continued focus for 2015-16. This will be 
supported by a programme of regular visits to Trust sites by the complaints team from 
June 2015 onwards.

Q1Complaints category

68%

50%

-

61%
(23/38)

Q2

47%

42%

-

44%
(27/61)

Q3

50%

24%

-

36%
(14/39)

Q4

56%

24%

-

43%
(18/42)

10 days

25 days

45 days

Total

Table 9

Local target: 80%

Of the 180 formal complaints received, at the time of writing in April 2015, 169 have 
been responded to. Of these 169 complaints, 54% were responded to within the 
relevant timescale. The Trust recognises the importance of improving this indicator and 
the following actions have been put in place:

1.	 The Trust has recruited a substantive Complaints and Incidents Manager;

2.	 The Advice and Complaints Team send out a weekly status update to the .	
		  divisions. Monitoring and tracking of complaints handling is now part of our 	
		  Divisional Performance Meeting monitoring agenda;

3.	 The Quality Committee maintains oversight of divisional response rates;

4.	 A programme of training sessions is to be run by the Complaints and Incidents 	
		  Manager for managers who are allocated to investigate complaints;

5.	 With increased capacity the Advice and Complaints Team will be able to provide 	
		  a higher level of support to the complaints process. The team will also be rolling 	
		  out a programme of site visits to support informal resolution of complaints;

6.	 Raising the profile of complaints within the Trust – the Trust hosted the National 	
		  Complaints Managers Conference in March (Section 5.7_1.3, page 38).

Page 49



44/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

2.7 	 Performance against key national indicators
2.7.1 	Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The CQC have developed an intelligent monitoring system (http://www.cqc.org.uk/
content/intelligent-monitoring-trusts-provide-mental-health-services-infographic) to 
gather together information on each provider registered with them. Under this system, 
each provider is assigned to a band of risk, with band 1 representing highest risk 
and band 4 lowest risk. Results for all Trusts were published in October 2014, which 
showed C&I in Band 4. The CQC are now revising the data set that makes up intelligent 
monitoring in response to stakeholder feedback. Revised intelligent monitoring data will 
be available in June 2015. Full data from C&I’s most recent intelligent monitoring report 
is available here (www.cqc.org.uk/content/monitoring-trusts-provide-mental-
health-services).

2.7.2		 Monitor
The Trust is assessed on a quarterly basis by Monitor through seven distinct performance 
indicators. The measures are intended to indicate the quality of mental health care at a 
service level, with quality being: care that is effective, safe and provides as positive an 
experience as possible. Trust performance against these is provided below. Percentages 
here have been rounded up or down to whole numbers. Where comparator data is 
given with decimals we have presented our data in the same format.

Q4

98%

Q3

96%

Q2

96%

Q1

95%

Target Method

CPA - having formal review  
in the last 12 months

Numerator: Number of adults in the 
denominator who have had at least one 
formal review in last 12 months. 

Denominator: Total Number of adults who 
have received secondary mental health 
services who had spent at least 12 months 
on CPA at the end of the reporting period 
or at the time of discharge from CPA.

95%

98%95%98%96%CPA – follow up within 7 days 
of inpatient discharge

Numerator: Number of people under CPA 
who were followed up either by face-to-
face contact or phone discussion within  
7 days of discharge from Psychiatric  
Inpatient Care.

Denominator: Total Number of people 
under CPA discharged from Psychiatric 
Inpatient Care

95%

Page 50



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /45

Q4Q3Q2Q1Target Method

100%100%100%98%Admissions to inpatient  
care having access to  
Crisis Resolution Home 
Treatment Teams

This indicator applies only to admissions 
to the foundation Trust’s mental health 
psychiatric inpatient care. The following 
cases can be excluded: 

(i)	 planned admissions for psychiatric care 	
	 from specialist units; 

(ii) 	internal transfers of service users 			 
	 between wards in a Trust and transfers  
	 from other Trusts; 

(iii) patients recalled on Community 			 
	 Treatment Orders; or 

(iv) patients on leave under Section 17 of 		
	 the Mental Health Act 1983.

The indicator applies to users of working 
age (16-65) only, unless otherwise 
contracted. This includes CAMHS clients only 
where they have been admitted to adult 
wards. An admission has been gate-kept by 
a crisis resolution team if they have assessed 
the service user before admission and if 
they were involved in the decision-making 
process, which resulted in admission.

95%

1.22%0.50%2.54%1.80%Minimising delayed transfers 
of care

Numerator: Number of inpatients (aged 18 
and over upon admission) whose transfer 
of care was delayed during the quarter, per 
day. (For example, one patient delayed for  
5 days would be 5)

Denominator: Total Number of Occupied 
Bed Days during the Quarter.

<7.5%

100%100%100%100%Meeting commitment to serve 
new psychosis cases by Early 
Intervention Teams

Quarterly performance against 
commissioner contract. Threshold represents 
a minimum level of performance against 
contract performance, rounded down.

95%

100%100%100%100%Mental Health Minimum  
Data Set:

Numerator: Count of valid entries from  
the following; NHS Number, DOB,  
Postcode, Gender, GP Registration, 
Commissioner Code.

Denominator: Total number of entries.

97%

Page 51



46/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Q4Q3Q2Q1Target Method

87%82%78%66%Mental Health Minimum 
Data Set: Data Completeness 
Outcomes:

Employment Numerator: The number 
of adults in the denominator whose 
Employment Status is known at the time of 
their most recent review.

Employment Denominator: the total 
number of adults (aged 18-69) who have 
received secondary mental health services 
and who were on the CPA at any point 
during the reported quarter

Accommodation Numerator: the number 
of adults in the denominator whose 
accommodation status (i.e. settled or 
non-settled accommodation) is known at 
the time of their most recent assessment, 
formal review or other multi-disciplinary 
care planning meeting. Include only 
those whose assessments or reviews 
were carried out during the reference 
period. The reference period is the last 12 
months working back from the end of the 
reported quarter.

Accommodation Denominator: the total 
number of adults (aged 18-69) who have 
received secondary mental health services 
and who were on the CPA at any point 
during the reported quarter.

HoNOS[1] Numerator: The number of adults 
in the denominator who have had at least 
one HoNOS assessment in the past 12 
months.

HoNOS Denominator: The total number 
of adults who have received secondary 
mental health services and who were on 
the CPA during the reference period.

50%

[1] Health of the Nation Outcome Scale (HoNOS)

Page 52



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /47

2.7.3 	Department of Health Indicators 2012/13
The Department of Health has drawn up a list of indicators for mandatory inclusion 
in Quality Accounts from 2012/13 onwards due to their pertinence and potential 
to provide an assessment of quality across the five domains of the NHS Outcomes 
Framework. From the list of mandated indicators; six are relevant to the Trust.

Prescribed Indicator Quality Domain of NHS 
outcomes framework

1. 	 Preventing People from 
dying prematurely

2. 	 Enhancing quality of life 
for people with long-
term conditions

1.	 Percentage of patients on CPA who were 
followed up within 7 days after discharge from 
psychiatric in-patient care

Table 10

2. 	 Enhancing quality of life 
for people with long-
term conditions

2.	 Percentage of admissions to Acute wards for 
which the CRT home treatment team acted as  
a gatekeeper

3. 	 Helping people to 
recover from episodes  
of ill health or  
following injury

4. 	 Ensuring that people 
have a positive 
experience of care

2. 	 Enhancing quality of life 
for people with long-
term conditions 

4. 	 Ensuring that people 
have a positive 
experience of care

5. 	 Treating and caring 
for people in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them from 
avoidable harm

3.	 Percentage of patients readmitted to a hospital 
which forms part of the Trust within 28 days of 
being discharged from a hospital which forms 
part of the Trust

4.	 Percentage of staff who would recommend the 
provider to friends or family needing care

5.	 Patient experience of Community Mental 
Health Services score with regards to a patients 
experience of contact with a health or social 
care worker

6.	 Rate of patient safety incidents and percentage 
resulting in severe harm or death

Data for these measures for the reporting periods 2012/13 to present are provided over 
the page. 

Page 53



48/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Percentage of Patients on CPA who were followed up within 7 Days 	
		  after discharge from psychiatric in-patient care

Trust	 Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 	 Q4 	 Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 	 Q4 	 Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 	 Q4
	 12/13	 12/13	 12/13	 12/13	 13/14	 13/14	 13/14	 13/14	 14/15	 14/15	 14/15	 14/15

Camden and Islington	 97.8%	 94.9%	 95.3%	 98.5%	 96.0%	 98%	 97.4%	 98%	 96%	 98%	 95%	 98%

National average	 97.5%	 97.2%	 97.6%	 97.6%	 97.4%	 97.5%	 96.7%	 96.7%	 97.4%	 97.5%	 96.7%	 96.7%

Lowest Performing Trust 	 94.9%	 89.8%	 92.5%	 92.5%	 94.1%	 94.7%	 77.2%	 77.2%	 94.1%	 94.7%	 77.2%	 77.2%

Highest Performing Trust 	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%

National Target	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%

Table 11

[1]	 Percentages here have been rounded up or down to whole numbers. Where .	
	 comparator data is given with decimals (as in 3.1.9) we have presented our data in 	
	 the same format. 

[2] 	 Health of the Nation Outcome Scale (HoNOS)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1  
12/13

Q2  
12/13

Q3  
12/13

Q4  
12/13

Q1  
13/14

Q2  
13/14

Q3  
13/14

Q4  
13/14

Q1  
14/15

Q2  
14/15

Q3  
14/15

Q4  
14/15

Percentage of patients on CPA 
followed up within 7 days

Camden and Islington
Lowest performing Trust

National average
Highest performing Trust

National target 95%

National
Target 
95%

Page 54



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /49

National
Target 
95%

Assurance statement
Camden and Islington Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reason: that the data is subject to monthly monitoring and is regularly audited 
internally to assure its accuracy. The Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, by:

1.	 Benchmarking Trust performance and commissioner level targets set for other 	
		  Mental Health providers to understand the definitions and methodology used to 	
		  calculate and report their position.

Percentage of admissions to Acute wards for which the Crisis  
		  Resolution Home Treatment Teams acted as a gatekeeper 

Table 12

Percentage of admissions to Acute wards for which the Crisis Resolution 
Home Treatment Teams acted as a gatekeeper

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1  
12/13

Q2  
12/13

Q3  
12/13

Q4  
12/13

Q1  
13/14

Q2  
13/14

Q3  
13/14

Q4  
13/14

Q1  
14/15

Q2  
14/15

Q3  
14/15

Q4  
14/15

Camden and Islington
Lowest performing Trust

National average
Highest performing Trust

National target 95%

Trust	 Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 	 Q4 	 Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 	 Q4 	 Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 	 Q4
	 12/13	 12/13	 12/13	 12/13	 13/14	 13/14	 13/14	 13/14	 14/15	 14/15	 14/15	 14/15

Camden and Islington	 96%	 96.5%	 95.1%	 97.8%	 98%	 99.6%	 98%	 98%	 98.3%	 99.5%	 99.5%	 100%

National average	 98%	 98.1%	 98.4%	 98.7%	 97.7%	 97.5%	 98.6%	 98.6%	 98%	 98.5%	 97.8%	 98.6%

Lowest Performing Trust 	 83%	 84.4%	 90.7%	 20%	 74.5%	 90.7%	 85.5%	 85.5%	 33.3%	 93%	 73%	 85.5%

Highest Performing Trust 	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%	 100%

National Target	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%	 95%

Page 55



50/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Assurance statement
Camden and Islington Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reason: that the data is subject to monthly monitoring and is regularly audited 
internally to assure its accuracy. The Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, by:

1.	 Examining comparative figures and learning lessons from the experience of 
hospitals with low readmission rates.

2.	 Benchmarking Trust performance and commissioner level targets set for other 
Mental Health providers to understand the definitions and methodology used to 
calculate and report their position.

3.	 Completion of an audit which examines the emergency readmission rates and 
explores whether factors such as ethnicity, age, gender, diagnosis or contacts with 
community services can predict whether service users will be readmitted.

Percentage of patients readmitted to a hospital which forms part of 	
		  the Trust within 28 days of being discharged from a hospital[1]

			   Q1 	 Q2 	 Q3 		  Q4 

Camden and Islington 2012/13		  12.10%	 7.80%	 11.80%	 9%

Camden and Islington 2013/14		  8.30%	 8.80%	 6.83%	 7.10%	

Camden and Islington 2014/15		  10%	 9.20%	 7.20%	 8.2%	

Local Commissioner Target	 	 	 6.20%	 6.20%	 6.20%	 6.20%	

Audit Commission Benchmark		  10%	 10%	 10%	 10%	

Table 13

[1] 	 The information Centre provides benchmarking data up until 2010/11 however 	
	 there is no data within for comparative mental health Trusts, and as such the  
	 Audit Commissions Q2 2011/12 benchmarking data has been used for reference.

Readmissions within  
28 days of discharge

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%
10%
12%
14%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Camden and Islington
2014/15

Local target: 
6.2%%

Camden and Islington
2013/14

Camden and Islington
2012/13

Local Commissioner 
Target

Audit Commission 
Benchmark

Although readmissions occur for a variety of reasons, which can include service 
users being readmitted to hospital shortly after leaving as part of a care pathway, 
one potential inference drawn from higher rates is that the readmission results from 
ineffective treatment in hospital, in addition to poor or badly organised readmission 
or support services following discharge, consequently it is important for the Trust 
to measure and monitor readmission rates. The Trust is actively working to reduce 
readmission rates, though at Q4 did not meet the local target of 6.2%. Work on 
this important issue will continue under the Crisis Care Concordat. The Trust has a 
readmissions working group, chaired by the Clinical Director for the R&R Division, which 
continues to support work to ensure people can remain well in the community after 
discharge.
[1]	 The information Centre provides benchmarking data up until 2010/11 however 	
	 there is no data within for comparative mental health Trusts, and as such the Audit 	
	 Commissions Q2 2011/12 benchmarking data has been used for reference.

Page 56



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /51

Assurance statement
Camden and Islington Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reason: that the data is subject to monthly monitoring and is regularly audited 
internally to assure its accuracy. The Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, by 

•		 Examining comparative figures and learning lessons from the experience of 	
		  hospitals with low readmission rates;

•		 Benchmarking Trust performance and commissioner level targets set for other 	
		  Mental Health providers to understand the definitions and methodology used to 	
		  calculate and report their position; and

•		 Completion of an audit which examines the emergency readmission rates and 	
		  explores whether factors such as ethnicity, age, gender, diagnosis or contacts 	
		  with community services can predict whether service users will be readmitted.

Percentage of staff who would recommend the provider to friends  
		  or 	family needing care

The Trust score from the 2014 annual CQC Staff Survey in 2013 was 3.57 out of 5 
which is a slight increase on the score for 2013 (3.56).

Our staff Friends and Family Test results are similar to last year, and to national scores. 
Next year we will be offering staff the opportunity to complete FFT online, which will 
help maximise response rates and will ensure the survey can be accessed by all staff, 
thereby improving the reliability of this measure.

Assurance statement
Camden and Islington Foundation Trust considers that this data is described for the 
following reason: that the data is subject to monthly monitoring and is regularly audited 
internally to assure its accuracy. The Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality Camden and Islington Foundation Trust considers that this 
data is as described for the of its services, by

1.	 Continuing to use the national staff survey to measure staff satisfaction in the 	
		  workplace;

2.	 Improving staff confidence in the quality of Trust services by providing access to 	
		  real-time information regarding the quality of services and performance data;

3.	 Instigating a programme of staff listening events; 

4.	 Refocusing the work of the staff survey action group onto addressing priority 	
		  issues raised by staff; 

5.	 Working with the staff wellbeing group to address staff set wellbeing priorities, 	
		  such as support to exercise and to quit smoking;

6.	 Continuing to align the organisation to our co-created values and behaviours in 	
		  order to sustain continued improvement in staff and service user experience;

7.	 Addressing comments from staff surveys about bullying and harassment, and 	
		  violence and aggression towards staff; and Continuing the Staff Friends and 	
		  Family Test. 

Camden and Islington Foundation Trust 2014

Camden and Islington Foundation Trust 2013

Camden and Islington Foundation Trust 2012

Camden and Islington Foundation Trust 2011

National Average 2013 (MH/LD Trusts)

Best 2012 score (MH/LD Trusts)

Lowest 2012 score (MH/LD Trusts)

Service Score

3.57

3.56

3.23

3.25

3.55

4.07

3.01

Table 14

Page 57



52/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

Patient experience of Community Mental Health Services score with 	
		  regards to a patients experience of contact with a health or social 	
		  care worker

To improve the quality of services that the NHS delivers, it is important to understand 
what people think about their care and treatment. To monitor this, Quality Health, on 
behalf of the Care Quality Commission, conducted the Survey of People who used Trust 
Community Mental Health Services. The table below summarises “Patient experience of 
community mental health services” and provides indicator scores with regard to patient 
experience of contact with a health or social care worker during the reporting period.

Health and Social Care Workers 8.2

8.5

7.3

7.8

7

7

7.7

6.1

7.5

Listening

Time

Other areas of life

Being informed

Contact

Organisation

Agreeing care

Involvement in planning care

Personal circumstances

Care review

Involvement in care review

Shared decisions

Continuity of care

Information

Contact

Support during a crisis

Involvement in decisions

Understandable information

Medicine review

Other treatments and therapies

Help finding support for 
physical health needs

Help finding support for 
financial advice or benefits

Help finding support for finding 
or keeping work

Help finding support for finding 
or keeping accommodation

Local activities

Involving family or friends

Information on support from others

Understanding

Support

Feeling hopeful

Contact

Overall view of mental health services

Respect and dignity

Organising care

Planning care

Reviewing care

Changes in people who see

Crisis care

Treatments

Other areas of life

Overall views and experiences

8.7

8.0

7.9

7.5

9.7

8.4

6.5

7.4

4.9

8.0

7.6

7.7

7.5

6.5

6.8

7.1

7.1

7.4

8.3

8.1

6.0

6.0

5.7

5.8

5.9

6.8

4.6

6.8

6.7

6.8

6.9

7.3

8.4

About the same

About the same

Better

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

Better

About the same

About the same

About the same

Better

About the same

Better

Better

About the same

Better

About the same

About the same

About the same

About the same

Better

About the same

About the same

About the same

Section score Item Item score (/10) Comparison to 
other trusts

Table 15: C&I results from this year’s survey

Page 58



Section/
Question

C&I West
London

SLAM BEH CNWL East
London

South
West
London

Oxleas NEL Selected
London
Average

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /53

Table 16: C&I results from this year’s survey

Health and Social Care Workers

Listening

Time

Other areas of life

8.2

9

8

8

7.6

8

7

7

8.1

9

8

8

7.5

8

8

7

7.7

8

8

7

7.6

8

8

7

7.9

8

8

7

7.8

8

8

7

7.8

9

8

7

7.8

8.3

7.9

7.2

Discussion of the overall survey results is given in section 1.7_2.4, page 42.

Assurance statement
Camden and Islington Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reason: that the data is subject to monthly monitoring and is regularly audited 
internally to assure its accuracy. The Trust will take the following actions to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, by:

1.	 Addressing improvement in service user experience through real time tracking 	
		  and response to patient feedback.

Rate and percentage of patient safety incidents resulting in severe 	
		  harm or death

This measure has been selected by Trust Governors as a local quality indicator. In 
2014/15, staff reported a total of 2,234 patient safety incidents. From this total, 49 were 
related to severe harm or death. There were 95,707 occupied bed days in the Trust in 
the same period. This equated to 23 patient safety incidents per 1,000 occupied bed 
days, with 2.2% leading to severe harm or death.

After a substantial amount of work to improve incident reporting, the Trust now scores 
in the mid-range nationally for the reporting of patient safety incidents. This is a marked 
improvement as the Trust was previously the lowest national reporter. The Trust also 
scores highest in London and joint highest nationally for timeliness of reporting of 
patient safety incidents to the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS).

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12%

Lowest Performing Trust

C&I 2013/14

C&I 2012/13

C&I 2011/12

National Average

C&I 2014/15 Q1

C&I 2014/15 Q2

C&I 2014/15 Q3

C&I 2014/15 Q4

C&I 2014/15
Percentage of patient safety incidents  
resulting in severe harm or death

Page 59



95%(P)

98%(P)

N/A

92%(P)

55%(P)

95%

100%

95%

91%

35%

99%

100%

N/A

95%

N/A

95%

100%

N/A

89%

N/A

Y

Y

Y

N

Y

Q1 - 95%
Q2 - 95%
Q3 - 95%
Q4 - 95%

Q1 - 98%
Q2 - 98%
Q3 - 98%
Q4 - 98%

Q3 - 95%

Q1 - 95%
Q2 - 95%
Q3 - 95%
Q4 - 95%

Q3 - 35%
Q4 - 35%

Complete physical and mental health diagnostic coding (ICD 10)

Completion of annual physical health check

Reduction of medication errors through medicines reconciliation on 
admission to hospital

Adequate and timely communication between primary and secondary 
care to ensure high quality care and patients safety - inpatient and 
primary care

Increasing the stop smoking offer in health services Care Planning 
for Smoking Cessation - At least 35% of service users are involved in 
agreeing and adopting a care plan intervention for smoking cessation.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

54/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.8 	2013/14 Quality Priorities - Progress
This section describes the Trust’s progress against the quality 
priorities that we set the previous year. The Trust 2013/14 
Quality Accounts set out five quality priorities for 2014/15.

1.1 	 Priority Areas 1&2: Physical Health
In our last Quality Accounts, we highlighted the national and local priority for improving 
quality of physical healthcare in mental health services. This priority has applied across 
services and across professional disciplines. Over the past 12 months, the Trust has 
continued implementing the MEWS tool (Modified Early Warning Scores) to quickly 
calculate the state of service users’ physical health. We have also ensured monitoring 
of a range of KPIs & CQUINs to support this, the results of which are given below. 
Q4 results are provisional and subject to change in data refresh. Whilst substantial 
improvement was seen in communication with GPs between Q2 and Q4, there remains 
scope for further improvement, and this is included in the quality priorities for 2015/16, 
as described in section 1.4, page 12.

Improving Physical Healthcare to Reduce Premature Mortality in People with Severe Mental Illness

Improving the Physical Health of Service Users with Mental Health Problems and Good Practice Communication

N/A

84%(P)

N/A

N/A

N/A

44%

N/A

N/A

Y

Y

Q4 - 90%

Q4 - 90%

Cardio metabolic assessment for patients with schizophrenia

Communication with General Practitioners

3.1

3.2

Table 17

(P)	 Provisional data

Page 60



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /55

1.1.1 	Priority Area 3: Systematic and innovative ways of 	
					     capturing feedback

The Trust has implemented an online patient feedback tool. This is discussed in more 
detail in section 1.7_2.4, page 42.

1.1.2 	Priority Area 4: Recovery-oriented practice
In 2014/15, one of the CQUIN targets agreed with commissioners related to recovery-
oriented and collaborative care planning. The CQUIN, audited via a sample of patient 
records, included service users on CPA and reviewed their CPA review. This audit is 
conducted annually in Quarter 4, with a target of 50% of service users’ records showing 
evidence of collaborative care planning, at least two personal recovery goals with input 
given/invited from the GP. The Trust has achieved this target, with a score of 55% at the 
end of the year.

1.1.3 	Priority Area 5: Smoking cessation
A summary of the Trust’s smoke free work is presented in section 1.2. The Trust has 
exceeded the target of at least 35% of service users who are smokers having a care 
plan intervention for smoking cessation, with a score of 54% in Q4. We have been 
prioritising smoking cessation recording this for 88% of service users against a 75% 
target. An additional audit of 4 week quits is currently underway.

1.	 Stakeholder Involvement in Quality Accounts

		  The Trust’s quality goals are co-developed with stakeholders and communicated 	
		  within the Trust and the community it serves.

2.1 	 Trust staff
Trust staff were invited to contribute suggestions for areas of inclusion within the 
priorities for 2014/15 and the review of 2013/14. Input was received from across clinical 
disciplines in the Trust and from staff in central support services.

2.2 	 Healthwatch
An invitation to contribute to the process of the Quality Accounts was provided to both 
Camden Healthwatch and Islington Healthwatch.

2.3 	 Trust Governors
The Trust Governors have similarly provided input to the Quality Accounts development 
and their suggestions have been included in these Quality Accounts.

Priority Area 3: Systematic and innovative ways of capturing feedback 
The Trust has implemented an online patient feedback tool. This is discussed in more 
detail in section 1.7_2.4, page 42.

2.1.1 	Priority Area 4: Recovery-oriented practice
In 2014/15, one of the CQUIN targets agreed with commissioners related to recovery-
oriented and collaborative care planning. The CQUIN, audited via a sample of patient 
records, included service users on CPA and reviewed their CPA review. This audit is 
conducted annually in Quarter 4, with a target of 50% of service users’ records showing 
evidence of collaborative care planning, at least two personal recovery goals with input 
given/invited from the GP. The Trust has achieved this target, with a score of 55% at the 
end of the year.

2.1.2 	Priority Area 5: Smoking cessation
A summary of the Trust’s smoke free work is presented in section 1.2. The Trust has 
exceeded the target of at least 35% of service users who are smokers having a care plan 
intervention for smoking cessation, with a score of 54% in Q4. We have been prioritising 
smoking cessation, recording this for 88% of service users against a 75% target.

Page 61



56/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.9 	Stakeholder Involvement in Quality Accounts
The Trust’s quality goals are co-developed with stakeholders 
and communicated within the Trust and the community  
it serves.

1.1 	 Trust staff
Trust staff were invited to contribute suggestions for areas of inclusion within the 
priorities for 2014/15 and the review of 2013/14.Thirty four suggestions were logged, 
and input was received both from across clinical disciplines and from staff in central 
support services.

1.2 	 Camden Healthwatch & Camden Health and Adult 	
		  Social Care Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

An invitation to contribute to the process of the Quality Accounts was provided 
to Camden Healthwatch and the Camden HOSC. The organisations made a joint 
statement, given in section 1.2

1.3 	 Islington Healthwatch
An invitation to contribute to the process of the Quality Accounts was provided to 
Islington Healthwatch.

1.4 	 Trust Governors
The Trust Governors have provided input to the Quality Accounts development and their 
suggestions have been included in these Quality Accounts. This includes the selection of 
the ‘rate and percentage of patient safety incidents resulting in severe harm or death’ by 
Trust Governors as a local quality indicator (section 2.7.3, page 53).

Page 62



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /57

1.10 Stakeholder Statements
Lead commissioners 

Page 63



58/ Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015

1.1 	 Islington Healthwatch (LINks)
Islington Healthwatch were invited to make a statement for inclusion in the  
Quality Accounts.

1.2 	 Joint statement by Camden Healthwatch and the 
		  Camden Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
		  Committee

Camden Healthwatch and the Camden Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Committee (HOSC) welcome the opportunity to comment on Camden and Islington 
NHS Foundation Trust’ (CIFT) Quality Account for 2014/15 and their priorities for quality 
improvements in 2015/16.

During 2014/15, CIFT came twice to Camden’s HOSC. It updated the committee on 
progress against the areas for improvement identified by the CQC in their inspection 
in May 2014. The Committee has established a panel to look further at the Trust’s 
response to the CQC and welcomes the Trust’s positive response. We will be working in 
partnership with the Trust to improve the outcomes and experience of their service users 
and patients. We are pleased to see that the areas identified by the CQC where CIFT 
must do better are reflected in their key priorities for this year.

In 2014/15 there have been some positive areas of progress on quality improvement and 
for this the Trusts should be congratulated. For instance, 

•		 on nutrition screening; 

•		 on completion of physical health checks for patients on CPA with high risk 	
		  physical health conditions; 

•		 on review of inpatient care plans (although the Trust could helpfully say more 	
		  about the variation across Trust Teams and what actions are being taken to 	
		  reduce this); and 

•		 with patient-led assessments of the care environment. 

Whilst there are some positives in the report, we believe that the Trust could do more to 
make the report easy to follow for a public readership and thereby increase transparency 
and accountability. At present, it appears the report has been written for commissioners, 
regulators or other professionals with a technical knowledge that would very likely 
go beyond that of the general public. A separate Camden and a separate Islington 
perspective with the different issues each area faces would also be welcome.

Whilst there are some examples of patient and staff engagement in the report, there is 
little mention of how the public and staff were involved in the process of agreeing this 
year’s quality priorities. We hope that in next year’s Quality Accounts, the Trust does 
more to explain how it has engaged with the public, patients, Governors and local 
authority in setting its priorities.

We were disappointed that the Trust did not meet its targets on respite breaks for carers, 
and would like to see better progress on this topic in the coming year. 

We would also like the Trust to say more in the report about its relationship with the 
Third Sector and the role Third Sector organisations play in providing many of the 
services to people referred by the Trust.

1.11 Feedback
If you would like to give any feedback on the Quality 
Accounts 2014/15, suggest measures for 2015/16, or to ask 
questions, please contact the Governance and Quality 
Assurance Team. 
The team can be contacted by email at governanceandquality.assurance@candi.nhs.uk.  
If you would like to give feedback on services at Camden & Islington Foundation Trust, 
please contact feedback@candi.nhs.uk or call 020 3317 3117.

Page 64



Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2014–2015 /59

Support Worker of the Year:  
Winner: Vivienne Stevens, Daleham Gardens Crisis Centre

Viv's nomination: “I feel Viv deserves 
recognition and a big thank you for all 
her hard work, dedication and kindness 
to staff and service users. Viv is unique 
and one of a kind. I think C&I would be  
at a loss without this type of integrity.”

Page 65



Page 66



Governance and Quality Assurance Team

June 2015

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 12



Quality Accounts
• Produced annually in line with the Health Act 

(2009) and the National Health Service (Quality 

Accounts) Regulations

• Provide an opportunity for the Trust to share with 

the public its work to improve quality

• Include updates on progress since the last Quality 

Accounts, and our quality priorities over the 

coming year

• Include comments and incorporate ideas from 

stakeholders including governors, staff, OSC, 

HealthWatch

• Priorities divided into 3 key areas: Patient Safety, 

Clinical Effectiveness & Patient Experience

• This year an easy-read version is available.

P
age 68



Update on priorities for 2013-14 (1)
Patient safety

• Compliance with standards of MUST policy: The target for this measure was for 

80% of people to receive MUST assessment within 72hrs of admission, and the 

Trust maintained 100% performance throughout the year. 

• Annual physical health checks: The Trust performed well on the ambitious 95% 

target during the year, and met the target each quarter. 

• Proportion of staff reporting errors, near misses and incidents witnessed in 

the month prior to the annual CQC survey: The Trust remained consistent with 

the national average at 90% on this measure. However, this is something that we 

would like to improve in 2015/16, as the Trust has undertaken work to increase rates 

of incident reporting throughout the year.

Clinical effectiveness

• Frequency of care plan reviews (within 7 days of admission): The Trust 

exceeded the 85% target in three of the four quarters and will continue actively 

working on this measure in 2015/16.

• Average length of stay: The Trust exceeded the target of less than 20% patients 

having an admission over 100 days (Q4 – 12%)

P
age 69



Update on priorities for 2013-14 (2)

Patient experience

• Advice and services to carers: This measure remained a 

challenge, and neither borough was able to meet the 35% 

target for provision of specific carers’ services. However, 

substantial improvements were seen in Camden (achieving 

32%) and this progress will to be built on in 2015/16.

• Provision of activities in inpatient teams: The Trust 

remained above the target of providing at least four 

activities per week for 75% inpatients during all quarters in 

2014/15.

• PLACE scores: The Trust performed well in the 2014 

PLACE (Patient-led assessments of the clinical 

environment), scoring above comparative trusts in 

cleanliness, food, and condition/maintenance.

• Moving to recovery in IAPT services: The recovery rate target was exceeded in 

Islington, and narrowly missed in Camden in 2014/15. Both showed improvement 

from previous years. 

P
age 70



Priorities for 2014-15 (1)
Patient safety

1. Domestic violence: including ensuring people experiencing or at risk of domestic 

violence are supported appropriately, including reporting, safety planning and 

information-giving;

2. Safety from ligatures: including completing our CQC action plan relating to 

ligatures, and implementation of ligature risk assessment training;

3. Falls Management: including National Patient Safety Thermometer measures, 

falls champions, and completion of the CQC action plan relating to falls;

4. Serious incidents: including robust evidence of delivery of recommendations and 

evidence of sharing learning across the Trust.

Clinical effectiveness

5. Physical health: using the National Patient Safety Thermometer and continuing to 

collect and monitor key cardio metabolic indicators for people with schizophrenia;

P
age 71



Priorities for 2014-15 (2)
6. Working with other providers: improving communication with GPs, and working 

to reduce A&E re-admission rates by improvements in crisis planning;

7. Stopping smoking and substance misuse: ensuring service users have 

smoking cessation care plans, and have substance misuse assessments and 

appropriate management plans;

8. Mental Capacity Act: including ratification of policies by Quality Committee 

following presentation to Mental Health Law Committee, and delivery of training 

plans.

Patient experience

9. Service user feedback: including participation in the 

Friends and Family Test;

10. Medication: including improving information given for 

new medication prescriptions;

11. Patient transfers: reducing moves between wards for 

non-clinical reasons.

P
age 72



Key quality initiatives updates

The Quality Account also gives updates on a number of 

initiatives:

• Sign up to Safety Campaign

• Smokefree

• National complaints event

• Integrated practice unit for people 

living with psychosis

• Quality improvement projects in 

Camden Crisis Houses

• Positive and Proactive Care

• Nurse Consultant-led training

• Thematic review of unexpected 

deaths

• Quality Assurance Framework

• Patient reported experience 

measures

• NHSLA Risk Management 

Standards Assessment

• Advice and Complaints

• Performance against key national 

indicators

P
age 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 4 

 
  Public Health 
  Municipal Offices, Upper Street 
 
Director of Public Health 
 

Meeting of: Date Agenda item Ward(s) 
 

Health Scrutiny 
 

2nd July 2015 
 

 
 

 
All 

 

Delete as 
appropriate 

Exempt Non-exempt  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SUBJECT: Reducing alcohol-related harm in Islington – report on progress  
 

1. Synopsis 
1.1 Substance misuse has a substantial and significant impact on Islington residents. Substance misuse is 

one of Public Health’s core transformation programmes.  To support delivery of this, a significant 
programme of work has been instigated to ensure we are maximising positive recovery outcomes 
among substance misusers. There have been some substantial and rapid improvements in outcomes 
for those in treatment services. For instance the level of successful treatment completions among non-
opiate users in Islington is now in the top quartile of performance when compared to boroughs with 
similar treatment populations. The transformation programme will support a sustained improvement in 
these outcomes, whilst ensuring we maximise value for money. 

1.2 The paper provides a brief summary of the impacts of substance misuse in Islington, the size of the 
treatment population and outcomes amongst this group. The paper outlines the work that is happening 
to redesign the treatment pathway as well as describing the key work streams for the next 12-18 
months. We also highlight the key challenges which we need to address.  

2. Recommendations 
2.1 To note the work which is already underway, as well as the work planned to tackle the detrimental 

impacts of substance misuse in Islington.  

3. Background 
3.1 Alcohol and substance misuse are both cause of considerable harm to the health and well-being of 

Islington residents. One in three residents are estimated to be drinking at increased or high risk levels. 
The borough also has one of the highest levels of incapacity benefit claimants for alcoholism in London. 
In terms of other substance misuse Islington has the second highest rate of opiate and crack use in 
London; although data suggests a downward trend in the local prevalence rate.  
 

3.2 The impacts of substance misuse are felt across the population, and the evidence base shows 
investment in drug and alcohol services results in a strong and substantial return on investment. For 
example: 

 The National Audit Office estimates £2.50 is saved for every £1 invested in treatment services,  

 It is estimated nationally if all drug users who started their recovery in 2010-11 sustain it, the 
estimated benefit would be £2.6bn 

Page 75

Agenda Item 13



Page 2 of 4 

 For every £100 invested in drug treatment services a crime is prevented 

3.3 Substance misuse service performance is monitored nationally and locally using the National Drug 
Treatment Monitoring System (NDTMS) which is overseen by Public Health England (PHE).  During 
2014/15 there were concerns about the security of the data transfer process from service providers to 
NTDMS.  As a result NDTMS was unavailable for most of 2014/15. In Islington we have relied on local 
contract monitoring and performance management arrangements to be assured about the effectiveness 
of services.  Locally reported performance has been positive with an increased number of successful 
treatment completions. However, due to the complexity of data matching it was not possible to use this 
local data to produce borough wide information similar to that available on NDTMS.  Whilst NTDMS has 
recently become available again there is a backlog uploading data and cleansing it. This means that we 
are limited in terms of the data we can report for 2014/15 and are therefore using 2013/14 data in this 
report, whilst the national issues with the NDTMS system are resolved.  
 

3.4 Based on information available for 2013/14, there are an estimated 1930 opiate users, 1820 crack 
cocaine users and 570 injecting drug users living in the borough. In 2013-14 there were 1287 people in 
Islington effectively engaged in drug treatment. In 2012/13 there were 916 people in treatment for 
alcohol. In terms of the treatment population there has been a significant change in the case mix with 
and an increasing proportion on non-opiate users.  

3.5 The drug and alcohol treatment pathway in Islington has been developed in line with what the evidence 
base shows to work best in maximising positive outcomes for those who are substance misusers or 
affected by someone else’s substance misuse. The aim of the approach is to impact positively on 
health, social and economic outcomes across the borough through sustained recovery. There are three 
core strands to the treatment model – prevention, treatment and recovery. Underlying these three 
strands is the importance of ensuring effective integration with other services, both within the council 
(e.g. social care, housing and community safety) and the wider public sector (police, health and 
probation). 

3.6 There have been some significant improvements in outcomes of those in the drug and alcohol treatment 
system over the last couple of years. For instance completions for non-opiate users has increased by 
14% from 2012-13 to 2013-14. Whilst for those in alcohol treatment, 59% of those who left alcohol 
treatment became abstinent in 2013-14, with the number reporting a housing problem reducing from 
15% at entry to treatment to 5% when leaving alcohol treatment services and 100% of those who 
reported offending linked to key offences (shoplifting, assault, other theft, drug selling) at the start of 
treatment ceasing offending by treatment exit. 

3.7 It is important that the work that has been occurring to support improved outcomes over the last couple 
of years continues to be developed in order to meet the high and changing need in the borough. Our 
key priorities over the next 24 months are aligned to the Public Health Transformation programme. Our 
approach has been informed by a number of factors, in particularly supporting residents with different 
patterns of drug and alcohol use; increasing  uptake of treatment among underrepresented groups, 
including young people who misuse alcohol and drugs; and supporting the treatment system to improve 
recovery outcomes in the opiate using population. Our approach to transformation has identified the 
following objectives:  

 A treatment pathway that is adaptive to the changing needs of the population of drug and alcohol 
users e.g. addressing the impact of legal highs, increasing uptake of treatment services for 
underrepresented groups such as young people 

 Developing a more flexible and personalised service with greater emphasis on community based 
programmes and wider recovery support 

 Strengthening pathways into employment and engagement with housing and other agencies 
relevant to effective and sustained recovery 

 Ensuring families and those affected by someone else’s substance misuse are effectively supported 

 Need to ensure effective, evidence-based treatment services available in Islington that can 
demonstrate value for money 

3.8 The work programme is involving a full review of the treatment pathway, including service redesign & 
review of ways of working. The review will ensure a model of delivery which improves outcomes in drug 
and alcohol services, whilst delivering substantial efficiencies and maximising value for money. A 
project plan has been developed and is being implemented to review all services within the drug 
treatment system and a clear forward plan is in place. Key workstreams currently being taken forward 
are the re-procurement of the complex needs drug service and remodelling of the primary care based 

Page 76



Page 3 of 4 

drug and alcohol services; development of an approach for re-procuring the residential detoxification 
and rehabilitation services; and a review of the local day programmes for substance misuse.   
 

3.9 A number of challenges need to be addressed as we take forward these priorities, some of the key 
challenges and areas to be aware of include: 

 Recognising that those in treatment services are the ‘tip of the iceberg’ (especially alcohol)  

 Early intervention, and the importance of looking across all council services to identify opportunities 
for heading off problems before they escalate – across the lifecourse, including children’s services 
and YOS 

 Recognising that not all those affected by substance use will be dependent on drugs or alcohol - 
often individuals/families at risk of harm are ’invisible’ and we need to ensure this group are well 
supported. 

 Ensuring a sustained recovery, for instance supporting those in treatment services back into 
employment. 

 Ensuring we do not address substance misuse in isolation, one particular area of focus is the 
overlap with mental health. There are substantial opportunities for working collaboratively with a 
cohort of individuals, to support a more sustained and joined up approach for delivery of services  

 It is important we seize opportunities offered by national and regional work programmes/initiatives. 
For instance exploring how we can ensure impacts of substance misuse are acknowledged and 
included within work such as that happening around employment support. 

 Substance misuse is clearly an area which impacts across a range of service areas – all areas of 
the council are affected. It is important we consider how we can better quantify cross-over of service 
use in Islington. For instance if we can apply an approach similar to that used to look at youth 
offending to understand and model through a cohort to quantify what services they are coming into 
contact with. 

4. Implications 
 

4.1 Financial implications:  to be added when received 
  

4.2 Legal Implications: to be added when received 
  
4.3 Environmental Implications: to be added when received 

 
  
4.4 Equality Impact Assessment: 
 Resident Impact Assessments will be completed as part of the tendering of each of the different of 

the different services. 
 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 
5.1 The committee are asked to note the work which is already underway, as well as the work planned to 

tackle the detrimental impacts of substance misuse in Islington 
5.2 It is important that substance misuse commissioners and public health continue to work collaboratively 

with partners to develop a treatment pathway that is adaptive to the changing needs of the population of 
drug and alcohol users and which therefore maximises good treatment outcomes and sustained 
recovery, whilst also maximising value for money and efficiencies within the system.  

 
Appendices 
 
Background papers: presentation: substance misuse in Islington, July 2016 
Final report clearance: 
 
Signed by:  

 

 
 

Page 77



Page 4 of 4 

 
 Director of Public Health Date 23rd June 2015 
Received by:  

 
 

 

 Head of Democratic Services Date 
 
Report Author: Charlotte Ashton / Emma Stubbs 23/06/2015 
Tel: 02075271253 
  
Email: Charlotte.ashton@islington.gov.uk 
 

Page 78



SUBSTANCE MISUSE IN ISLINGTON

Emma Stubbs

Senior Commissioning Manager

Charlotte Ashton

Consultant in Public Health

June 2015

P
age 79



§ What is the size of the problem?

§ The impacts on Islington

§ Substance misuse treatment model

§ Drug and alcohol treatment outcomes

§ Next steps: cross cutting themes

§ Service redesign: current & future plans

§ Challenges ahead

Key areas

P
age 80



Prevalence of alcohol and drug misuse

Alcohol misuse

Source: Substance Misuse Needs Assessment, 2014

Drug misuse

Note: The groups are not mutually exclusive and may 

overlap. Source: JSNA, 2013-14

Significantly higher prevalence than 

cluster of local authorities with similar 

needs

P
age 81



20%Impacts of 

substance 

misuse: 

Islington
FAMILIES

& DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

HEALTH

PRODUCTIVITY & 

ECONOMIC IMPACTS

HOUSING

CRIME & ANTI-

SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

of offenders arrested that were

tested for drugs, tested positive

for cocaine and opiates.

36%

alcohol related offences in

Islington in 2013.

of youth offenders have at least

some association with substance

misuse; including 12% who are

strongly associated.

70%

13%

of alcohol related crime 

was categorised as 

domestic violence in 2013.

20%

of child protection cases 

had drugs as a contributory 

factor. A third of all adults 

in drug treatment have 

childcare responsibilities. 

3rd
highest rate of claimants of 

incapacity benefits whose 

main medical reason is 

alcoholism in London. 

increase in alcohol related 

hospital admissions over the 

last five years in Islington. 

2,700
ambulance call-outs as a 

result of alcohol in 2013/14 –

a 5% increase since 2008-

09. 

320
people who accessed 

supporting people 

accommodation services 

in the last year had 

alcohol or drugs as a 

primary or secondary 

problem. 

1,285

TOTAL COSTS

£230m

Estimates suggest costs to the

system exceed

3,059 alcohol-related hospital 

admission episodes 

(2012/13). 

P
age 82



Substance misuse treatment model

Prevention:

• Behaviour 

change

• Awareness

• Training

• Environment

• Regulation 

Treatment:

• Counselling/therapy

• Substitute 

prescribing 

• Detoxification

• Rehabilitation

• Harm minimisation

Recovery:

• Maintain change

• Housing

• Support

• Employment

• Mutual Aid

• Family support

Objective: Impact positively on health, social and economic outcomes 

across the borough through sustained individual recovery

Integration with other services: 

Council: Social Care; Housing; Community Safety

External: Police; Health; Justice; Probation

P
age 83



Drug and Alcohol Treatment Outcomes

6

16%
of service users successfully 

completed drug treatment (2013-

14), compared to 15% nationally.

88%
of those that successful completed 

did not return within 6 months 

(2013-14).

Completions for non-opiate users 

has increased by 14% from 2012-13 

to 2013-14.

Drug outcomes

300
substance misusers were supported 

back into work and training in the 

last year in Islington. 

Alcohol outcomes

33%
of service users left alcohol treatment 

successfully (2013-14) compared to 38% 

nationally.

of individuals in alcohol treatment left 

successfully and did not return within 6 

months (2013-14). 

32%

59%
of individuals that left alcohol treatment 

became abstinent. 

5% reported a housing problem when leaving alcohol 

treatment compared to 15% when entering treatment.

100%

of individuals who reported offending linked to key offences 

(shoplifting, assault, other theft, drug selling) at the start of 

treatment had ceased offending by treatment exit.For ever £1 spent on drug treatment, 

£2.50 is saved in costs to society. Young 

people’s drug & alcohol intervention 

saved £5-£8. 

916
adults are effectively engaged in 

drug treatment in 2013-14.
adults are in alcohol treatment in 2013-14.1,287

For every £1 spent on drug treatment saves £2.50 in costs to society, with an 
even greater return on investment for young people’s drug and alcohol services -

£5-£8

P
age 84



Next steps
• Awareness raising training for council staff & partners: 
developing skills for identifying issues related to alcohol 
harm. 

• Housing key to rehabilitation: Closer collaboration between  
those working across the spectrum of housing provision, 
treatment and recovery providers - ensuring appropriate 
support provided.   

1.Embedding 
initiatives already 

underway

• Strengthen joint working & embed treatment services more 
firmly within criminal justice pathways.

• More effective response to dual diagnosis; holistic & multi-
disciplinary approach

• Employment: focus on scale and accessibility of specialist 
& generic employment support. Strengthening relationships 
with Working Capital, IWork and treatment services. 

2. Better integration 
of existing services

• Redesign & re-commissioning of local substance misuse 
services will focus on substance misuse being a cross-
cutting theme - a service pathway that maximises 
integration. 

3. Service redesign

P
age 85



Addressed through Public Health transformation programme:

• Full review of treatment pathway, including service redesign & review of ways of working

• Designed to improve outcomes in drug and alcohol services, deliver substantial 

efficiencies and maximise value for money

• Project plan developed to review all services within the drug treatment system and a clear 

forward plan is in place.

• Need to ensure effective, evidence-based treatment services available in Islington that 

can demonstrate value for money 

Substance misuse transformation programme

Ensure treatment pathway is able to meet the needs of changing 

population of drug and alcohol users

Key challenges: 

1. Supporting clients with different patterns of drug and alcohol use

2. Increase uptake of treatment for under represented groups, including young

people who misuse drugs and alcohol

3. Support the treatment system to improve recovery outcomes in the opiate using

population

P
age 86



§ Procurement of a complex needs drug service:

– A specialist treatment service for people with drug and/or alcohol 

problems who have additional complex needs around mental health, 

offending or other health issues

– New service to be in place by April 2016

§ Remodelling of primary care based drug and alcohol services 

(PCADS provided by Whittington Health)

– Aiming to integrate PCADS with the developing Primary Care Mental 

Health Team (provided by Camden & Islington NHS Foundation Trust) to 

jointly providing specialist substance misuse and mental health support. 

– Remodelled service will deliver: streamlined assessment of patients with 

mental health / substance misuse profiles within primary care settings 

with access to a one-stop resource for promotion of their physical, 

mental health and substance misuse wellbeing

Service redesign: specialist treatment & 

community treatment services

P
age 87



• Services are for clients who experience a number of complex issues 

that make achieving abstinence through community based support 

challenging

• Proposed joint procurement with London Borough of Camden

• Plan is to deliver service through a framework which will be in place 

by April 2016. This is an overarching contract setting out a clear and 

robust expectation for quality and outcomes and a set price for the 

interventions delivered 

• Improve quality, outcomes, choice and value for money

Service redesign: Procurement of residential 

detoxification & residential rehabilitation services

P
age 88



§ Current services provided through CASA and Cranstoun – contracts 

due to end in 2016

§ Need to ensure future provision is well integrated to the redesign of 

local treatment services and in line with local need

§ Currently undertaking a wide ranging strategic review of local day 

programmes services which includes:

– Understanding the services’ effectiveness within the wider substance 

misuse treatment system

– Scoping service design options in addressing current unmet need:

eg: approaches elsewhere, no duplication (with substance misuse and 

wider provision), maximising use of universal services, services for 

young people/addressing needs around transition

– Output will be a new approach to service delivery with clearly specified 

outcomes, that support sustained recovery

Service redesign: review of local day 

programmes for substance misuse

P
age 89



§ Recognising that those in treatment services are the ‘tip of the iceberg’ (especially alcohol) 

– how do we intervene earlier & ensure easy access?

§ Early intervention – important we look across all council services to identify opportunities 

for heading off problems before they escalate – across the lifecourse, including children’s 

services and YOS

§ Recognising that not all those affected by substance use will be dependent on drugs or 

alcohol - often individuals/families at risk of harm are ’invisible’: how do we support 

others?

§ Ensuring a sustained recovery e.g. employment, reducing social isolation 

§ Overlap with mental health – substantial opportunities for working collaboratively with a 

cohort of individuals 

§ Work with NHS: substance misuse is a major risk factor for long terms condition, including 

hospital admission and readmission.

§ Central government/pan London initiatives: explore how we can ensure impacts of 

substance misuse are acknowledged and included e.g. employment support

§ How do we better  quantify cross-over of service use in Islington? Can we apply an 

approach similar to that used to look at youth offending to understand and model through 

a cohort to quantify what services they are coming into contact with?

Challenges ahead

P
age 90



Healthwatch Islington 
Annual Report 2014/15 (draft)

Page 91

Agenda Item 14



Healthwatch Islington  •  2 

If you require this report in an alternative format please contact us at the address on 
page 20.

Page 92



Healthwatch Islington  •  3 

Note from the Chair. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4
About Healthwatch. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5

Our vision/mission. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  5
Our strategic priorities. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  5

Engaging with people who use health and social care services. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7
Understanding people’s experiences. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  7
Enter & View. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  9

Providing information and signposting for people who use health and 
social care services. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  10

Helping people get what they need from local health and social care services.. .  .  .  10
Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11

Mystery shopping. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
Producing reports and recommendations to effect change. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  12
Putting local people at the heart of improving services. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  13
Working with others to improve local services. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  13

Impact Stories . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 14
Case Study One. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  14
Case Study Two. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  15

Our plans for 2015/16 . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  16
Opportunities and challenges for the future. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  16

Our governance and decision-making. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 17
Our board	. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  17
How we involve lay people and volunteers . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  18

Financial information. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  19
Contact us. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 20

Contents

Page 93



Healthwatch Islington  •  4 

Healthwatch 
Islington  strives 
to raise the issues 
that matter most 
to local people. 

 
It has been a great year for Healthwatch 
Islington and it gives me real pleasure to 
introduce our annual report.

At the last count, we’d made 39 formal 
recommendations for improvements 
to services in the last 12 months. Many 
of those have already been acted on 
by Islington Council, Islington Clinical 
Commissioning Group, and by local NHS 
Trusts.

Through our investigation into the 
provision of interpreting services at GP 
practices, we have extended our work 
with local community organisations 
representing the interests of vulnerable 
black and minority ethnic clients. This has 
helped us to build a more complete picture 
of the needs of our local community. 

We will continue to work to reduce health 
inequalities by increasing the uptake of 
interpreting services for those who need 
them. Our partners at Islington Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) will play a 
vital role in making this a reality. 

The CCG commissioned Healthwatch to 
go into care homes to find out how the 
service provided by the Integrated Care 
Ageing Team was viewed. By listening to 
residents and relatives we learned what 
the particular strengths of the service 
were.  Our report on this piece of work was 
picked up by the King’s Fund and drew 
praise from as far away as Copenhagen. 

Service change takes time. But many 
Islington residents need help now. That’s 
why our signposting service is so valuable. 
This year, by partnering with Help on Your 
Doorstep, we’ve made the service more 
proactive, taking it out to those who really 
need it and making more and more people 
aware of all that Healthwatch has to offer.

None of these achievements would have 
been possible without the support of our 
volunteer team. It’s great to see the impact 
their involvement is making.

Healthwatch Islington strives to raise the 
issues that matter most to local people. If 
you have any concerns, compliments or 
questions about local services, then get in 
touch. Our contact details are on page 20.

 
Olav Ernstzen 
Chair, Healthwatch Islington

Note from the Chair

Page 94



Healthwatch Islington  •  5 

We are here to make health and social 
care better for ordinary people. We believe 
that the best way to do this is by designing 
local services around their needs. 

Everything we say and do is informed by 
our connections to local people and our 
expertise is grounded in their experience. 
We are the only body looking at people’s 
experience across all health and social care.

We are uniquely placed as a network, with 
a local Healthwatch in every local authority 
area in England. 

As a statutory watchdog our role is to ensure 
that local health and social care services, and 
local decision makers, put the experiences of 
people at the heart of their care. 
 
 
Our vision and mission

Healthwatch Islington’s vision is for local 
health and care services which are informed 
by evidence from the local community 
and a community which is informed about 
local health and care services.

Mission

•	 To collect knowledge that reflects 
the diversity of needs and 
experiences within the borough 
and encourages people to 
feedback their honest views on 
services,

•	 To use the evidence we gather to 
influence service delivery, provision 
and commissioning for the benefit 
of local people and so that people 
have a better experience of 
services.

•	 To reach out to and empower our 
local community to be informed 
about local services, involved in 
local services, and exercise choice 
in taking up services.

 
Our strategic priorities

1.	� Gathering views of Children and 
Young People on a health strategy 
for the borough

2.	� Improving access to interpreting 
services within primary care

3.	 Customer service in GP receptions

4.	� Measuring ‘user friendliness’ of local 
safeguarding procedures

5.	� Informing the local community of 
current issues

6.	 Mental health access and advocacy

About Healthwatch

Page 95



Healthwatch Islington  •  6 

Individuals and organisations at a meeting of the Healthwatch Islington Steering Group.  
From left to right: Bob Dowd; Christine Taylor; Elizabeth Jones; Bianca Karpf (Body and 
Soul); John Thomas (Disability Action in Islington); Olav Ernstzen; Rose McDonald; Phill 
Watson (Manor Gardens Centre); Lynda Finn; Emma Whitby; Jeanne Franklin (Age UK 
Islington); Frank Jacobs; Geraldine Pettersson. 

#strongertogether

Page 96



Healthwatch Islington  •  7 

Understanding people’s 
experiences 

We use a series of simple surveys for  
face-to-face feedback. We also ensure 
that all local libraries, community centres, 
dentists, pharmacists, health centres, 
hospitals, and a wide range of voluntary 
organisations have copies of a freepost form 
that people can complete and return to us.

We have hosted stalls at community 
events at local shopping centres, summer 
festivals in local green spaces, local 
community centres and at a local bowling 
alley and pool club. We have been door-
knocking on key local estates with our 

partner Help on Your Doorstep and have 
worked with a range of local organisations.

•	 Young people (under 21) and older 
people (over 65).

We worked with colleagues from Islington 
Clincal Commissioning Group to gather 
the views of young people including 
young parents, young people in care and 
young people with disabilities including 
autism. These views directly informed the 
borough’s Children and Young People’s 
health strategy and we saw evidence of 
this at the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
This will translate in to better experiences 
for children and young people.

Engaging with people who use 

health and social care services

Page 97



Healthwatch Islington  •  8 

We have worked with older people in their 
80s for our work on the Integrated Care 
Ageing Team (ICAT) service. We visited 
residents of local nursing homes and 
spoke to them, and separately to their 
carers, to learn about their experiences of 
integrated care. We consider this group to 
be both vulnerable and seldom heard.

We have gathered the views of users of 
care home services through our Enter and 
View. We have liaised with our partners at 
Age UK Islington and the Older People’s 
Reference Group to give older people’s 
voices a channel. Age UK Islington sit 
on our Steering Group and can directly 
present the views of older people.

•	 People volunteering or working in 
Islington.

Our members simply need to have an 
interest in health and care services in 
Islington, they need not be resident in 
the borough. Our outreach and working 
groups gather data from people based on 
services they have tried to access rather 
than their borough of residence. In order 
to reach the working age population we 
organise meetings in evenings and at 
weekends, though we recognise that not 
all workers work standard office hours.

•	 Disadvantaged people or people 
we believe to be vulnerable.

We have used the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment to define people who we 
think may be vulnerable. This includes 
people with mental health needs, long-
term conditions, who do not have English 

as a first language, who have a sensory or 
physical impairment, who have a learning 
disability. Our work plan reflected this 
and included work on interpreting, work 
with carers, and commissioned work on 
complaints and the ICAT service.

We worked with partner organisations to 
gather views and experiences of services 
from key target groups. We are looking to 
extend this in the coming year and have 
allocated a specific budget line to support 
this work.

•	 People who are seldom heard.

During Carer’s Week 2014 we worked 
with local partners Centre 404 and the 
Islington Carer’s Hub to gather the views 
and experiences of local carers through 
information stalls. This led to a specific 
report with recommendations around 
improving support for carers.

We worked with Islington Council’s Sign 
Language Interpreting Service to deliver a 
focus group with Deaf service users who 
use British Sign Language to gather views 
on how easy it is to make a complaint and 
also their experiences of services more 
widely.

We are working with 12 other Local 
Healthwatch in North East Central London 
to provide Enter and View and Mystery 
Shopper training to Deaf British Sign 
Language (BSL) users. These volunteers 
will gather the views of the whole 
community but are carrying out work 
informed by the needs of BSL users.  

Page 98



Healthwatch Islington  •  9 

Enter & View 

Healthwatch Islington uses its right to 
Enter and View in consultation with local 
stakeholders including the Care Quality 
Commission, council and NHS contracts 
monitoring teams, as well as other local 
organisations which may be carrying out 
work to monitor services.

This ensures that we both avoid duplication 
and also carry out visits that are informed 
by the latest findings from local partners. 
The Enter and View team plans which 
services to visit and these plans, and 
ensuing reports, are approved by our 
Steering Group.

During the year 2014/15 we undertook 
Enter and View visits to care homes for 
older people. 

We decided to visit these settings because 
residents are vulnerable and seldom heard.  
As a result of these visits, and the publication  
of the ensuing report, we have seen: 

•	 improved access to homes’ 
gardens for the residents. 

•	 a new programme of 
intergenerational activities. 

•	 Islington Council are also meeting 
with voluntary organisations and 
care home managers to consider 
ways of engaging local volunteers 
to support activities both within 
and outside the homes. 

Authorised representatives for Enter and 
View are listed on our web-site.

Members of the Enter and View Team outside Highbury New Park Care Home

Page 99



Healthwatch Islington  •  10 

Helping people get what they need 
from local health and social care 
services 

Healthwatch Islington’s signposting service 
provides information on local health, 
social care and well-being services. We 
offer additional assistance to guide people 
through this if they need that support.

We want to make our signposting service 
as accessible as possible. People can 
contact us by email, in writing (we offer a 
Freepost address) and through the  
web-site, but as we want to reach people 
who may not be aware of our service we 
also visit local community groups and offer 
signposting at our information stalls.

We provided information and 
signposting for 226 local residents 

from April 2014 to March 2015.

 
Of the 226 local residents that we 
signposted in the last year, almost two 
thirds (135 enquiries, 60%) made contact 
through our outreach programme, 
and around a third (76 enquiries, 34%) 
contacted us by telephone. This is a 
reversal from the previous year when 
of the 185 residents that we signposted, 
only a quarter (48 enquiries, 25%) of them 

made contact through our outreach 
programme, and two thirds (123 enquiries, 
66%) made contact by telephone.

This shift is largely a consequence of our 
outreach with Help on Your Doorstep. Our 
work with this partner now generates a 
large percentage of our new referrals.

We have received a wide range of 
enquiries since April 2014. The largest 
number of enquiries relate to GPs, 
hospitals, and mental health services.

There was also an increase in enquiries 
related to dental care, advocacy and 
complaints, exercise on referral, podiatry, 
physiotherapy, SHINE (Seasonal Health and 
Interventions Network) and volunteering 
opportunities.

Resolving problems for individuals through 
signposting can lead to changes which 
improve services more generally. For 
example, when we helped one resident 
to access physiotherapy services, our 
intervention led to a group of staff at the 
Whittington being retrained. In another 
case we helped someone to report her 
dentist for negligence. That dental practice 
was then investigated by the Dental 
Council and required to take action to 
improve their services. 

Providing information and 

signposting for people who use 

health and social care services

Page 100



Healthwatch Islington  •  11 

Mystery Shopping:

•	 Customer service 

Healthwatch Islington and Islington Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) hold a joint 
workshop on the Equality Delivery System. 
This is an annual exercise in which the CCG 
is graded on the equity of service access it 
facilitates. The meeting involves a range of 
local voluntary sector partners, particularly 
those working with communities who may 
be considered more vulnerable or less 
frequently heard. 

It was agreed that a way to increase equity 
of access within primary care services 
would be to offer support to front-line 
reception staff to improve customer 
service. In 2014 the CCG arranged training 
sessions for reception staff within GP 
practices to attend.

Healthwatch Islington agreed to visit 
practices to measure the impact of 
the training. Mystery shoppers used a 
checklist of questions and acted as if 
they were registering with the practice. 
Visits took place between August and 
December 2014. The mystery shopping 
team included trained young people and a 
Healthwatch staff member.

•	 GP interpreting services

In November 2014 we sent mystery 
shoppers to every GP practice in the 
borough. They pretended to be new 
patients who did not speak English. At 
most practices they reported that they 
were treated with respect. But only 
one of the 36 practices visited used an 
interpreting service to help our volunteer 
to register. This mystery shopping formed 
part of a broader investigation into GP 
interpreting services. We are now working 
with Islington Clinical Commissioning 
Group to encourage GP practices to offer 
interpreting whenever there is a need. 

•	 GP complaints guidance

We mystery shopped Islington’s GP 
practices early in 2014 and found that 
information about the complaints process 
was generally poor. Often there was no 
guidance at all. Over the course of the 
current year Healthwatch Islington has 
worked to improve the quality of the 
written complaints guidance in local GP 
practices. In November 2014 we revisited 
the practices to assess the impact of our 
work and found that some practices had 
improved the quality of their information 
about complaints or were now using the 
guidance we had developed.

Influencing decision makers 

with evidence from local people

Page 101



Healthwatch Islington  •  12 

Producing reports and 
recommendations to effect change 

During the year 2014/15 Healthwatch 
Islington produced 11 reports on 
people’s experiences of local health 
and care services. When developing 
recommendations for reports, this is done 
in partnership with key organisations 
including commissioners to ensure 
that our recommendations are realistic, 
rooted in best practice and informed by 
the national policy context. Our reports 
are shared with the relevant providers, 
commissioners and the regulator.

For copies of the reports visit the web-site: 

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/
resources/reports 

Or give us a call and we can post you 
copies.

Our reports have included a range 
of recommendations to the people 
responsible for local services.

•	 We have made recommendations 
for increasing access to activities 
and garden space for care home 
residents and are assured by our 
local council that local providers 
are ensuring that this happens.

•	 We have made recommendations 
to improve access to interpreting 
within GP practice and our Clinical 
Commissioning Group has just 
started work to facilitate this.

•	 We mapped the complaints 
process and highlighted areas for 
improvement and are now making 
suggestions to local providers,

•	 We made recommendations 
about improving communications 
with those raising safeguarding 
alerts, which are informing the 
development of safeguarding 
procedures in our area,

•	 Work we carried out on GP 
reception’s customer service 
suggested that recommendations 
we had made previously around 
training and support for these staff 
had been followed up,

•	 Work we carried out to gather 
views on a new service to provide 
more integrated care, though small 
scale, suggested that care was 
becoming more joined up for these 
service users, we were pleased that 
this piece of work was highlighted 
as good practice by the King’s 
Fund, 

•	 Last year we made 
recommendations to improve 
access to hospital services for Deaf 
people who communicate using 
British Sign Language. Whilst some 
hospitals are making progress we 
are disappointed to see that this is 
not yet the case at our main local 
provider.

Page 102

http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/resources/reports
http://www.healthwatchislington.co.uk/resources/reports
http://kingsfund.blogs.com/health_management/2015/02/experiences-of-integrated-care-and-the-integrated-care-ageing-team.html
http://kingsfund.blogs.com/health_management/2015/02/experiences-of-integrated-care-and-the-integrated-care-ageing-team.html
http://kingsfund.blogs.com/health_management/2015/02/experiences-of-integrated-care-and-the-integrated-care-ageing-team.html


Healthwatch Islington  •  13 

Putting local people at the heart of 
improving services 

We have provided training and support 
to people interested in representing 
the community at local health and care 
committees.

We recruit and support local people to be 
involved in a range of local committees 
through which they can influence the 
commissioning, provision and management 
of local health and social care services.

Local Committees to which we send 
representatives:

•	 Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body,

•	 Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Patient and Public Participation 
Committee,

•	 Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Quality and Performance 
Committee,

•	 Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee,

•	 Community Education Network 
Provider Forum,

•	 Early Intervention and Prevention 
Committee,

•	 Expert Patient Panel,

•	 Homeless Forum,

•	 Leadership Development Network,

•	 Making It Real Board (Adult Social 
Care)

•	 Safeguarding Adults Partnership 
Board,

•	 Whittington Health Patient 
Experience Committee.

•	 Health and Wellbeing Board  
We have supported our 
representative to be effective by 
providing short briefings to them 
in advance of meetings. We are 
looking to strengthen our role on 
the board in 2015/16.

Working with others to improve 
local services 

We work closely with local commissioners 
and providers to keep informed about 
what is happening locally and to make 
sure that our work can have an impact.

We have not needed to make 
recommendations to the Care Quality 
Commission to undertake special reviews 
(themed investigations) or investigations 
(responsive inspections). We have 
copied reports and recommendations to 
Healthwatch England where appropriate. 
We have escalated two cases to 
Healthwatch England though we have 
since learned that these could not be 
resolved in this way. 

Page 103



Healthwatch Islington  •  14 

Impact Stories

Case Study One 

Reaching people who are isolated or who have mobility issues 

Knocking on doors: building a proactive signposting service 

 
Sarah from Healthwatch, out on her rounds.

In June 2014 we partnered up with Help 
on Your Doorstep, a local service that 
connects with people who don’t have the 
confidence or resources to access services 
themselves. Healthwatch outreach officers 
Sarah and Maria accompany the Help on 
Your Doorstep team twice each month, 
knocking on doors to talk to residents about 
Healthwatch and to hear about their needs.

This means we are able to help people 
who are isolated or have mobility issues, 

people most in need of social care services 
in particular, who we would be unable to 
reach through other means.

We’ve knocked on nearly 2,000 doors 
on some of the most disadvantaged 

housing estates in the borough. 

One elderly resident needed to replace 
the front wheels of his wheelchair and 
get a new cushion for it (the existing one 
was very uncomfortable). This would have 
been very difficult for him to afford. We put 
him in touch with Age UK Islington, who 
searched on his behalf for organisations 
who might be able to provide financial 
asistance. They then prepared a successful 
funding application for him.

Many of the people we connect with do 
not realise that they may be entitled to 
social care support. We are able to initiate 
that process by putting them in touch 
with the Access team at the council. We 
also refer these residents to befriending 
services, mental health support services, 
and complaints advocacy services. 

Door knocking has very quickly become 
the most important source of referrals for 
our signposting service.

Page 104



Healthwatch Islington  •  15 

Case Study Two 

Working with staff and residents in care homes

Healthwatch Islington helps to improve garden spaces

Sue Cartwright (left) and Geraldine 
Pettersson (right) are long serving 
members of Healthwatch Islington’s Enter 
and View team. This year they have been 
visiting care homes. It was an interest in 
this particular area of provision that first 
inspired Sue to volunteer, 

“My mum had been in an old people’s 
home some years ago, she had dementia. 
That was a good home and I just hoped 
that all the Islington ones were as good. 
That was the reason I got involved.’

Sue and Geraldine visited Muriel Street 
Care Home. As well as talking to residents 
about the home, they observed care being 
delivered. Although their impressions 
were positive in the main, they came away 
feeling that the outside spaces could be 
better used, particularly since many of the 
residents would have previously enjoyed 
gardens and gardening.

“It was a real lost opportunity” confirmed 
Geraldine. “There will be in Islington a 

number of gardening groups who’d 
be very happy to go along to help and 
participate.”

“The garden had raised beds with 
one shrub in maybe, nothing else. 
There weren’t any flowers at all 
and we thought, you know, they’re 
missing an opportunity. 

Sue Cartwright, Healthwatch Islington

We reported our concerns to Islington 
Council, who in turn contacted the provider. 

•	 The front and rear gardens at 
Muriel Street have been extensively 
pruned and tidied,  including a 
previously unkempt area that we’d 
flagged up. 

•	 The manager of the care home is 
obtaining permission to re-landscape 
the gardens completely, to make 
them more user friendly. 

•	 On a recent council monitoring 
visit the garden was in regular 
use by residents and their visitors. 
There were outdoor tea and coffee 
groups in the mornings.

•	 The council is now exploring ways 
to involve voluntary groups in 
delivering more activities, such as 
gardening, in our care homes.

Page 105



Healthwatch Islington  •  16 

Opportunities and challenges for 
the future 

Themes for the coming year:

•	 Young adults and mental health,

•	 Experiences of home care service 
users,

•	 Personalisation in care services 
(through Enter and View),

•	 Access to services (through 
Mystery Shopping),

•	 Influencing commissioning and 
developing needs analysis with 
voluntary sector input.

Our plans for 2015/16

Page 106



Healthwatch Islington  •  17 

Our board

Healthwatch Islington is managed by a 
board of directors acting in a voluntary 
capacity. Our work is informed by our 
Steering Group, which is made of local 
individuals and organisations. Directors 
also sit on on the Steering Group.

•	 Age UK Islington

•	 Arachne (co-opted Greek Cypriot 
Women’s Group)

•	 iBUG (mental health service user 
group)

•	 Body and Soul (Body & Soul is a 
charity for people living with and 
affected by HIV) 

•	 Community Language Support 
Services (co-opted)

•	 Disability Action in Islington

•	 Islington Carer’s Hub

•	 Manor Gardens Centre (providing 
health and well-being support to 
local people) represented by Phillip 
Watson (director)

•	 Clara Boerkamp (co-opted)

•	 Ray Boyce (co-opted, stepped 
down due to other commitments)

•	 Bob Dowd (director)

•	 Dave Emmett

•	 Olav Ernstzen (Chair and director)

•	 Lynda Finn

•	 Frank Jacobs

•	 Elizabeth Jones

•	 Kathryn Kershaw (co-opted, lead 
on data analysis)

•	 Rose McDonald (director)

•	 Rachel Monaghan (stepped down 
due to other commitments)

•	 Natalie Morris

•	 Geraldine Pettersson (co-opted, 
lead on Safeguarding)

•	 Shelagh Prosser (director)

•	 Christine Taylor

•	 Jana Witt (co-opted)

Our governance and 

decision-making

Page 107



Healthwatch Islington  •  18 

How we involve lay people and 
volunteers 

Lay people and volunteers are involved in 
all aspects of our work. 

Our Articles of Association, developed by 
volunteers on our Steering Group, are on 
our web-site. Our vision and mission were 
developed with input from local residents, 
members and volunteers.

We are a volunteer-led organisation. Our 
Steering Group (24 seats) is elected by our 
community members (750 people) with 
space for some co-options to increase 
diversity. Membership is open to anyone 
with an interest in local health and well-
being services. 

Our work plan is based on feedback from 
the local community. We develop a list of 
key themes and then ask members and 
local voluntary sector partners for their 
views on these themes. Our Steering 
Group includes representatives from 
local voluntary sector partners. Any work 
planning, reports or recommendations we 
make are discussed and approved by the 
Steering Group.

Development of our work and the budget 
for this is carried out by volunteers 
informed by the Steering Group. Therefore 
lay people determine how we will 
undertake activities and what services to 
focus on, whether to request information 
and whether to refer matters elsewhere. 
Decisions about Enter and View are 
approved by the Steering Group but made 
by a specialist team of trained Enter and 

View volunteers. Decisions about sub-
contracting are made by the company 
directors who are also volunteers from 
our local community and members of the 
Steering Group.

We follow the principles of Investing in 
Volunteers and seek feedback from those 
involved on how we can improve their 
experience and develop the organisation.

Volunteers contribute over 1,200 hours of 
expertise each year. Without their valuable 
contribution we would not be able to carry 
out the work that we do.

Volunteer with us 

For information on how to volunteer with 
us, contact Healthwatch Islington on 020 
7832 5821 or visit the web-site.

Page 108



Healthwatch Islington  •  19 

INCOME
£

Funding received from local authority  
to deliver local Healthwatch statutory activities 176,200

Total income 176,200

EXPENDITURE £

Office costs 16,582

Compliance (DBS checks, insurance, legal fees) 4,476

Staffing costs 129,122

Direct delivery costs 18,754

Total expenditure 168,934

Balance brought forward 7,266

Financial information

Page 109



Healthwatch Islington  •  20 

Get in touch

Freepost RTGT-HCUS-LXBS 
Healthwatch Islington 
200a Pentonville Road, London N1 9JP 

020 7832 5814

info@healthwatchislington.co.uk

www.healthwatchislington.co.uk

We will be making this annual report publicly available by 30th June 2015 by publishing 
it on our website and circulating it to Healthwatch England, CQC, NHS England, Islington 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Islington Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
our local authority. 

We confirm that we are using the Healthwatch Trademark (which covers the logo and 
Healthwatch brand) when undertaking work on our statutory activities as covered by 
the licence agreement.

© Copyright Healthwatch Islington 2015

Contact us

Page 110



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthwatch Islington
Emma Whitby, Chief Executive, 020 7832 5814

Health and Care Scrutiny Committee 2nd July 2015

P
age 113



What Healthwatch Islington does

Healthwatch Islington is grant funded by London Borough of 

Islington until March 2016 to carry out the following functions:

•Collecting and reporting your views on local health and social 

care services,

• Engaging you in decision-making about services, 

•Monitoring local services as they are delivered,

•Providing information about local services.

•Annual report – legal requirement, follows a template.

P
age 114



Key successes in 2014-15

• Great staff and volunteer team,

• Having an influence,

• Diverse membership and service users,

• Strong relationships with local voluntary and 

statutory sector partners,

• Highlighted by the King’s Fund and London 

Assembly (and shortlisted for two Healthwatch 

awards),

• Partnership working with 12 other Healthwatch to 

increase access for Sign Language users,

• Great leadership from the Board and Chair.

P
age 115



Challenges

• Following up recommendations – some progress but 

some providers are much less responsive – can we 

work with OSC?

• Raising awareness of what we do – what works best 

is personal contact,

• Increasing capacity, whilst maintaining quality 

within our budget.

P
age 116



• Keep up the good work,

• Continue to review diversity and increase our reach,

• More creative awareness raising techniques,

• Increase activity with children and young people,

• Seek alternate sources of funding to increase capacity,

• Develop consortia with small voluntary sector partners.

Plans for the Future

P
age 117



This page is intentionally left blank



       
 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2015/16 

 
  
 
 
19 MAY 2015 

 
1. Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings 

 
2. Work Programme 2015/16 and prioritisation of scrutiny topics  

 
3. 11/Out of Hours service specification 

 
4. Islington CCG Annual report 

 
5. Scrutiny Review – Patient Feedback – Draft recommendations 

 
6. Health and Wellbeing Board - update 

 
02 JULY 2015 
 

1. Drug and alcohol misuse – Annual Update 
 

2. Camden and Islington Mental Health Trust Quality Account 
 

3. Whittington Hospital defecit 
 

4. Islington Healthwatch Annual Report 
 

5. Scrutiny Review – Health Implications of Damp Properties – Approval of SID 
 
 

6. Work Programme 2015/16 
 

7. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 
 

 
14 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 

1. NHS Trust – Whittington Hospital – Performance update 
 

2. Annual Adults Safeguarding Report 
 

3. Scrutiny Review – Health Implications of Damp Properties - Presentation 
 

4. 111/Out of Hours service 
 

5. Work Programme 2015/16 
 

6. Value Based Commissioning – Islington CCG 
 

7. Hospital Discharges 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 16



8. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 

9. Executive Member Health and Wellbeing - Presentation 
 
 
19 OCTOBER 2015 
 

1. London Ambulance Service – Performance update 
 

2. Scrutiny Review – witness evidence 
 

3. Work Programme 2015/16 
 

4. Procurement of GP premises 
 

5. Health and Wellbeing Board - update 
 
 
23 NOVEMBER 2015 
 

1. Scrutiny Review – witness evidence 
 

2. Work Programme 2015/16 
 

3. Health and Wellbeing update 
  
 
07 JANUARY 2016 
 

1. NHS Trust – UCLH – Performance update 
 

2. Scrutiny Review – witness evidence 
 

3. Work Programme 2015/16 
 

4. Health and Wellbeing Board - update  
  
  
08 FEBRUARY 2016 

 
1. Child Protection in Islington – Annual Update 

 
2. Scrutiny Review – Draft recommendations 

 
3. NHS Trust – Moorfields – Performance update 

 
4. Work Programme 2015/16 

 
5. Health and Wellbeing Board - update 

  
 
 
 
11 APRIL 2016 
 

1. Scrutiny Review – Final report 
 

Page 120



2. Scrutiny Review – Final report 
 

3. Scrutiny Review – GP Appointments – 12 month report back 
 

4. Work Programme 2015/16  
 

5. Health and Wellbeing Board – update 
 
 

16 MAY 2016 
 
To be determined 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	11 Camden and Islington NHS Quality Account report 2015/16
	12 Quality Accounts presentation v1
	13 Drug and Alcohol misuse Annual Update
	20150619 - substance misuse presentation to health scrutiny_v2

	14 Islington Healthwatch Annual Report
	OSC July 2015

	16 Work Programme 2015/16

